

## Gastrointestinal motility and blood flow in teleosts during digestion and osmoregulation

# Jeroen Brijs

### Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences The Faculty of Science

This doctoral thesis in Natural Sciences, specialising in Biology, is authorised by the Faculty of Science and will be publicly defended at 10:00 am on Friday the 10th of February, 2017, at the Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences, Medicinaregatan 18A, Gothenburg, Sweden.

The opponent is Dr. Rod Wilson, Associate Professor of Integrative Animal Physiology, Biosciences, College of Life and Environmental Sciences, University of Exeter, United Kingdom.

# GASTROINTESTINAL MOTILITY AND BLOOD FLOW IN TELEOSTS DURING DIGESTION AND OSMOREGULATION

Jeroen Brijs

Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences University of Gothenburg Box 463, SE-405-30 Gothenburg SWEDEN E-mail: jeroen.brijs@bioenv.gu.se E-mail: jbrijs84@gmail.com

Copyright © Jeroen Brijs 2017 Published papers and respective figures in this thesis are reproduced/adapted with permission from the respective journals: Paper I – The Journal of Experimental Biology Paper II – The Journal of Experimental Biology Paper IV – Scientific Reports Paper V – American Journal of Physiology

ISBN: 978-91-629-0043-4 (PDF) ISBN: 978-91-629-0044-1 (Print) Electronic version: http://hdl.handle.net/2077/49977

Cover illustration: A modified version of a rainbow trout that was originally illustrated by James Barnett, <u>www.wildernesstrout.co.nz</u> ©. Permission to use this illustration in the thesis was obtained from the artist.

Printed by Ineko, Kållered, Sweden, 2017

# **DISSERTATION ABSTRACT**

Teleost fishes occupy virtually every aquatic habitat on earth and as a group face a wide range of environmental challenges in their natural habitats, as well as during their life histories. In order to survive and thrive in the face of these challenges, it is essential for them to maintain homeostasis, as well as to acquire and assimilate energy. For this to occur the gastrointestinal tract must function effectively and efficiently, which is achieved through a wide range of processes including tightly regulated gastrointestinal motility and blood flow responses. The overall aim of this thesis was to provide further insight into the importance of gastrointestinal motility and blood flow in teleosts by focusing on their role during digestion and osmoregulation.

Using a combination of methods, a range of propagating and non-propagating *in vivo* intestinal motility patterns were documented in shorthorn sculpin (*Myoxocephalus scorpius*) and rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Pre-prandially, both species of teleosts displayed a rhythmic, anally propagating motility pattern resembling and most likely sharing a similar 'housekeeper' function as mammalian migrating motor complexes. Following the ingestion of food, this motility pattern was reduced and replaced by irregular contractile activity in the shorthorn sculpin, whereas it persisted in the rainbow trout, which most likely reflects the differences in feeding strategy between the two species (*i.e.* intermittent *vs.* continuous feeders, respectively).

Gastrointestinal motility also plays an important role in osmoregulation. Euryhaline rainbow trout rapidly initiated a drinking response in order to maintain water balance when transitioning from freshwater to seawater. To promote water absorption in the intestine, imbibed seawater was substantially desalinated in the oesophagus. This was followed by a gradual increase in the contractile activity of the intestine, which plateaued after ~2 days to remain at a significantly elevated level in fully seawater-acclimated individuals. It seems that the teleost analogue of the mammalian migrating motor complexes may also play an osmoregulatory role, as their frequency was significantly higher in seawater. This motility pattern may be necessary for transporting and mixing imbibed seawater in an optimal manner for ion and water absorption, as well as preventing the mucosal accumulation of carbonate precipitates taking place in the intestine of teleosts living in the sea.

Furthermore, a raft of circulatory modifications occurs in rainbow trout heading to sea. Gastrointestinal blood flow, cardiac output and stroke volume began to increase after ~2 days in seawater and reached a level two-fold higher than in freshwater after 4 days, which was maintained in fully seawater-acclimated trout. The up-regulation of these cardiovascular processes is most likely essential for the maintenance of osmotic homeostasis and acid-base balance for teleosts living in the sea. My findings also suggest that the increased blood flow is mainly required for the transportation of products such as ions, water and metabolic wastes, as standard metabolic rate was not significantly affected. Furthermore, seawater-acclimated trout were still able to further increase gastrointestinal perfusion following a meal, although there were strong indications that these individuals were approaching their maximum threshold.

In conclusion, the findings of this thesis enable a greater insight into the importance of gastrointestinal motility and blood flow during the processing of food and maintenance of osmotic homeostasis, which ultimately underlies the relative fitness of marine and euryhaline teleosts living in the sea.

Keywords: teleosts, intestine, motility, blood flow, freshwater, seawater, feeding

# **LIST OF PUBLICATIONS**

This thesis is based on the following papers, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I. Brijs, J., Hennig, G., Axelsson, M. and Olsson, C. (2014). Effects of feeding on *in vivo* motility patterns in the proximal intestine of shorthorn sculpin (*Myoxocephalus scorpius*). *Journal of Experimental Biology* **217**: 3015-3027; doi:10.1242/jeb.101741
- II. Brijs, J., Hennig, G., Kellermann, A., Axelsson, M. and Olsson, C. (2017). The presence and role of interstitial cells of Cajal in the proximal intestine of shorthorn sculpin (*Myoxocephalus scorpius*). *Journal of Experimental Biology* 0: 1-11; doi:10.1242/jeb.141523
- III. Brijs, J., Hennig, G., Gräns, A., Dekens, E., Axelsson, M. and Olsson, C. (2017). Exposure to seawater increases intestinal motility in euryhaline rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Submitted to *Journal of Experimental Biology*.
- IV. Brijs, J., Axelsson, M., Gräns, A., Pichaud, N., Olsson, C. and Sandblom, E. (2015). Increased gastrointestinal blood flow: An essential circulatory modification for euryhaline rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) migrating to sea. *Scientific Reports* 5: 10430; doi:10.1038/srep10430
- V. Brijs, J., Gräns, A., Ekström, A., Olsson, C., Axelsson, M. and Sandblom, E. (2016). Cardiorespiratory up-regulation during seawater acclimation in rainbow trout: Effects on gastrointestinal perfusion and post-prandial responses. *American Journal of Physiology: Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology* **310**: R858-R865; doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00536.2015.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

DISSERTATION ABSTRACT	i
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	ii
INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. The world and its fishes	1
1.2. The gastrointestinal tract	1
1.2.1. Control of gastrointestinal motility	2
1.2.2. Control of gastrointestinal blood flow	5
1.3. The gastrointestinal tract and its role in feeding	6
1.3.1. Pre- and post-prandial motility	7
1.3.2. Pre- and post-prandial circulatory responses	9
1.3.3. Metabolic implications of feeding	11
<b>1.4.</b> The role of the gastrointestinal tract in osmoregulation	12
1.4.1. Gastrointestinal motility in FW and SW	15
1.4.2. Cardiovascular status in FW and SW	16
1.4.3. Metabolic implications of osmoregulation	17
AIMS	19
METHODOLOGIES	20
2.1. Experimental animals	20
2.2. In vivo intestinal motility	21
2.2.1. Description of motility patterns	21
2.2.2. Control mechanisms of intestinal motility	23
2.2.3. Enteric electrical activity	25
2.3. Drinking response	26
2.4. Circulatory responses	26
2.5. Oxygen consumption	27
2.6. Statistics	

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
3.1. In vivo intestinal motility patterns	
3.1.1. Food intake and intestinal motility	
3.1.2. Water salinity and intestinal motility	
3.2. Crossing the freshwater-ocean boundary	
3.2.1. The drinking response	
3.2.2. Acute changes in intestinal motility	
3.2.3. Hypoosmoregulatory circulatory responses	
3.2.4. Underlying hemodynamic mechanisms	40
3.2.5. Energetic costs of osmoregulation	41
3.3. Circulatory scope of a euryhaline teleost	42
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	47
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	49
REFERENCES	

## **INTRODUCTION**

### 1.1. The world and its fishes

Approximately 71% of the Earth's surface is covered with water. Oceans, seas and bays contribute to 96% of this coverage, lakes and rivers to slightly more than 1%, and the remaining water is locked up in ice and glaciers (Shiklomanov, 1993). Aquatic environments vary considerably in a range of physical features such as temperature, salinity, oxygen content, pressure and pH, and provide habitat for at least 33,000 fish species (Bone and Moore, 2008; Fishbase, www.fishbase.org).

Fish are loosely defined as gill-bearing aquatic craniates that lack limbs with digits, and are classed as a paraphyletic group since they do not share a common ancestor (Gill and Mooi, 2002). This results in a highly diverse group consisting of Myxini (hagfish), Cephalaspidomorphi (lampreys), Elasmobranchii (sharks, rays and skates), Holocephali (sawfish and chimaeras), Sarcopterygii (lobe-finned fishes) and the Actinopterygii (ray-finned fishes) (Fishbase, www.fishbase.org). Teleostei or the teleosts are the largest infraclass in the class Actinopterygii, constituting over 95% of all extant fish species and occupying virtually every aquatic habitat on earth (Nelson, 2006).

To occupy the vastly different and extreme habitats such as hot springs with temperatures exceeding 40°C or polar waters under the ice sheets approaching the freezing point of seawater, teleosts exhibit a high diversity of morphological, physiological and behavioural adaptations (Brix, 2002). The majority of teleosts also experience fluctuating environmental conditions within their natural habitat when they are stationary and/or during their life history when they are migratory (Bone and Moore, 2008). To survive and thrive under these conditions, they must be able to sustain the metabolic processes that are required for the maintenance of homeostasis, growth and reproduction. To accomplish this, it is crucial for them to acquire and assimilate sufficient amounts of energy from the surrounding environment, which is only possible through feeding and a functional gastrointestinal system.

### **1.2. The gastrointestinal tract**

The great diversity of teleosts and their respective life histories has led to a huge variation in the morphology, anatomy, histology and physiology of the gastrointestinal tract (Olsson, 2011a). Nevertheless, there are some key similarities. Thus, the gastrointestinal tract can be subdivided into the headgut (mouth and pharynx), foregut (oesophagus and stomach, although

some species are stomachless; Manjakasy et al., 2009), midgut (intestine) and hindgut (rectum) (Olsson, 2011a; Wilson and Castro, 2011). The gastrointestinal tract is responsible for a diverse range of physiologically important functions such as digestion and absorption of nutrients (Bakke et al., 2011), ionic and osmotic regulation (Grosell, 2011), barrier and immune function (Cain and Swan, 2011), gas exchange and acid-base balance (Taylor et al., 2011), endocrine/neuroendocrine/paracrine functions (Takei and Loretz, 2011), respiration (Nelson and Dehn, 2011), and in some species the mouth even functions as a site for egg incubation (Kuwamura, 1986). However, significant knowledge gaps still remain with respect to the role and importance of motility and blood flow for optimal gastrointestinal function in teleosts.

Gastrointestinal motility and gastrointestinal blood flow (GBF) are essential for the effective digestion and absorption of food, as well as the maintenance of osmotic homeostasis in teleosts. Therefore, this thesis will focus on these processes during the pre-prandial (*i.e.* unfed) or post-prandial (*i.e.* fed) state of two teleost species inhabiting either freshwater (FW) or seawater (SW). However, before delving into the complex motility patterns and GBF responses, a brief overview of the underlying control mechanisms involved in these processes is required.

#### 1.2.1. Control of gastrointestinal motility

Gastrointestinal motility can be described as the contractions and relaxations of circular and longitudinal smooth muscle (or skeletal muscle in the upper two-thirds of the oesophagus), which result in the movement of intraluminal contents (Kunze and Furness, 1999). To achieve an effective level of mixing and propulsive activity, gastrointestinal motility is tightly regulated and coordinated (Fig. 1).

The control of gastrointestinal motility involves multiple regulatory mechanisms. In some circumstances, gastrointestinal smooth muscle cells can generate their own rhythmic activity, but are typically controlled by other specialized cells that surround them (Sanders et al., 2006). Regulation of neurotransmission and the underlying electrical rhythmicity of smooth muscles are controlled by the interstitial cells of Cajal (ICC), which are small fusiform or stellate cells with prominent varicose processes that form networks in gastrointestinal tissues (Cajal, 1911; Sanders et al., 2012). In mammals, myenteric ICC (ICC-MY) are derived from the same mesenchymal precursors as longitudinal smooth muscle cells, whereas intramuscular ICC (ICC-IM) and deep muscular plexus ICC (ICC-DMP) arise postnatally from circular smooth muscle cells (Kondo et al., 2015; Ward and Sanders, 2001). The function of these subpopulations of ICC

differ, as ICC-MY act as electrical pacemakers whilst ICC-IM and ICC-DMP act as modulators of neurotransmission (Sanders et al., 2006).

The spontaneous electrical activity or slow waves from the ICC-MY result from the activation of a large inward current carried by Cl<sup>-</sup> ions (Zheng et al., 2014). Specifically, Ca<sup>2+</sup> is periodically released from intracellular stores and activates Anoctamin 1 (Ano1), which are Ca<sup>2+</sup> activated Cl<sup>-</sup> channels. This causes an efflux of Cl<sup>-</sup> and creates spontaneous transient inward currents, which leads to spontaneous transient depolarisations of the membrane. When the threshold potential is reached for the activation of T-type channels, Ca<sup>2+</sup> enters the cell and reinforces the activation of Ano1, which further depolarizes the cell. This leads to the generation of whole cell slow wave currents, which depolarizes adjacent ICC-MY cells via gap junctions (Sanders et al., 2006; Zheng et al., 2014).

Slow waves also conduct to smooth muscle cells via gap junctions and the subsequent depolarization activates voltage-dependent  $Ca^{2+}$  channels (Sanders et al., 2006). This results in the influx of extracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  and the release of intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  from the sarcoplasmic reticulum, which triggers the excitation-contraction coupling mechanism. Specifically, intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  forms a complex with the protein calmodulin that subsequently activates myosin light chain kinase to phosphorylate the light chain of myosin, which enables the molecular interaction of myosin with actin. In the presence of ATP, this allows cross-bridge cycling between myosin and actin (Webb, 2003). Smooth muscle cell relaxation occurs when intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$ decreases and myosin light chain phosphatase activity increases (Webb, 2003).

However, smooth muscle contractions and relaxations need to be coordinated in order to produce appropriate propulsion and mixing of intraluminal contents (Sanders et al., 2012). Propagation of activity both within and between the smooth muscle layers and pacemaker networks occurs mainly via gap junctions (Gabella and Blundell, 1981). Furthermore, since the electrical slow waves produced by the ICC-MY cannot be regenerated by the smooth muscle cells, continuous networks of ICC are required throughout the gastrointestinal tract to provide a pathway for the active propagation of slow waves (Horowitz et al., 1999; Sanders et al., 2012). This allows the coordination of organ-level propagation of contractions and creates the basis for a wide range of motility patterns.

While the basic rhythmical properties of gastrointestinal contractions are determined by ICC-MY and smooth muscle; the strength, coupling and pattern of these contractions are largely determined by superimposed neural input (Huizinga and Lammers, 2009; Sanders et al., 2012). This is mainly due to the directed release of a wide range of excitatory (*e.g.* acetylcholine,

substance P, neurokinin A) and inhibitory neurotransmitters (*e.g.* nitric oxide, vasoactive intestinal polypeptide) from enteric neurons (Olsson, 2011b). Furthermore, locally released and circulating hormones (*e.g.* cholecystokinin, somatostatin, histamine, ghrelin) that are predominantly controlled by the autonomic nervous system have also been demonstrated to have significant effects on gastrointestinal motility (Olsson, 2011b).



**Figure 1. The multiple layers of regulatory mechanisms involved in the control of intestinal motility in teleosts.** The rhythmic, spontaneous electrical activity generated by myenteric interstitial cells of Cajal (ICC-MY) can depolarise gastrointestinal smooth muscles, which results in low amplitude contractions. Extrinsic and intrinsic autonomic reflexes influence the strength, coupling and patterning of these contractions. Sensory neurons respond to chemical (luminal content or hormones released from mucosal endocrine cells) or mechanical (stretching of muscle layers) stimuli and send information to either intrinsic (enteric) or extrinsic autonomic neurons. The extrinsic reflexes involve afferent (blue arrows) and efferent (yellow arrows) pathways in the splanchnic and to some extent vagal nerves. The efferent nerves then synapse with intrinsic inter- or motor neurons. Hormones reaching the gut via the circulation, as well as those locally produced by mucosal endocrine cells, also influence contractile activity. Illustration by Jeroen Brijs, Albin Gräns and Catharina Olsson.

In summary, the excitability and contractility of gastrointestinal smooth muscle results from the integrated behaviour of multiple regulatory mechanisms that superimpose upon myogenic activity (Sanders et al., 2012).

#### 1.2.2. Control of gastrointestinal blood flow

A sufficient perfusion of the gastrointestinal tract is essential to sustain oxygenation and nutritional levels of tissues, as well as to transport metabolic wastes and assimilated nutrients, water and ions from the gastrointestinal tract to other sites for excretion or utilisation. Most of the blood in the gastrointestinal tract of teleosts is supplied via the coelacomesenteric artery, which is the first caudal branch of the dorsal aorta. This artery then progressively divides into smaller vessels such as the coeliac and mesenteric arteries to provide blood to the stomach, intestine and liver (Seth et al., 2011).

Regulation of pre-prandial GBF has been suggested to occur mainly via tonic  $\alpha$ -adrenergic constriction of the gastrointestinal vasculature in a range of teleosts (Axelsson and Fritsche, 1991; Axelsson et al., 1989; Axelsson et al., 2000; Holmgren et al., 1992). This mechanism is highly conserved as it has also been reported in reptiles, birds and mammals (Axelsson et al., 1991; Butler et al., 1988; Ross, 1971). The tonic vasoconstriction of vascular beds including the gastrointestinal tract is necessary as cardiac output cannot be increased sufficiently enough to maintain arterial blood pressure if all vascular beds are fully dilated (Farrell et al., 2001). Interestingly, during stress, the  $\alpha$ -adrenergic vascular tone of the red Irish lord (Hemilepidotus hemilepidotus) increased to such an extent that blood flow completely ceased in the gastrointestinal tract (Axelsson et al., 2000). Therefore, it is clear that when necessary, mechanisms exist to prioritise circulation to oxygen-sensitive organs such as the heart and brain, whereas less flow is directed to organs such as the gastrointestinal tract that are able to withstand periods of lower blood supply (Farrell et al., 2001).

Mammals generally increase GBF by redistributing blood from other vascular beds to the gastrointestinal tract via alterations in systemic and gastrointestinal vascular resistances with relatively little compensatory modifications in cardiac output (Gallavan et al., 1980; Vatner et al., 1974). In contrast, increased GBF in teleosts mostly occurs via a reduced gastrointestinal vascular resistance, which is accompanied by an equivalent or larger increase in cardiac output (Axelsson and Fritsche, 1991; Axelsson et al., 1989; Axelsson et al., 2000). Changes in GBF are regulated through a combination of inputs from the autonomic nervous system, circulating and locally produced vasoactive substances, and metabolite-induced control (Kågström and Holmgren, 1997; Kågström et al., 1996; Seth et al., 2010; Seth et al., 2011). These control mechanisms allow teleosts to finely tune

GBF when experiencing changes in physical status (*i.e.* stress, exercise and feeding) and/or environmental conditions (*i.e.* temperature, hypoxia and hypercapnia) (Axelsson and Fritsche, 1991; Axelsson et al., 1989; Axelsson et al., 2000; Axelsson et al., 2002; Gräns et al., 2007; Gräns et al., 2009a; Gräns et al., 2009b; Gräns et al., 2010; Seth and Axelsson, 2009).

# 1.3. The gastrointestinal tract and its role in feeding

The primary function of the gastrointestinal tract is to process food and water, assimilate the vital nutrients and excrete bodily wastes. Food processing begins in the mouth and varies widely depending on the method of capture and feeding strategy of the particular species (Bakke et al., 2011). For example, piranhas initiate the processing of food by mechanically breaking down prey with their sharp teeth prior to swallowing the pieces (Agostinho et al., 1997), cyprinids utilise pharyngeal teeth to break up hard food items (Sibbing, 1982), whereas salmonids generally swallow their prey whole (Bakke et al., 2011). Food is then transported via the oesophagus to the stomach, or directly to the intestine in stomachless species, whereupon further mechanical processing occurs and chemical digestion is initiated.

In teleosts possessing a stomach, the ingested food is temporarily stored in the stomach to undergo an initial physical and enzymatic breakdown through the coordinated secretion of digestive fluids (Bakke et al., 2011). Hydrochloric acid and pepsinogen are released from oxynticopeptic cells, which are generally located in the central fundic and distal pyloric regions of the stomach (Bomgren et al., 1998; Norris et al., 1973). Hydrochloric acid lowers pH, denatures proteins and converts the inactive pepsinogen into active pepsin, which is a proteolytic enzyme (Wu et al., 2009). Simultaneously, mucus is secreted from goblet cells to protect the mucosa from the low pH environment (Krogdahl et al., 2011; Morrison and Wright, 1999). Furthermore, marine species with diets consisting largely of chitinous invertebrates have also been found to secrete chitinase, an enzyme suggested to aid in breaking down the chitin-containing exoskeletons of their prey (Fänge et al., 1979; Gutowska et al., 2004).

Upon entry to the intestine, the food contents or chyme, are mixed with intestinal, pancreatic, hepatic and biliary secretions (Bakke et al., 2011). Electrolytes within these secretions, mainly bicarbonate, play an important role in neutralising the pH of the chyme, which subsequently enhances the chemical environment for pancreatic and intestinal digestive enzymes (Krogdahl et al., 2011). Pancreatic enzymes are essential for the breakdown of fats, proteins and carbohydrates, and the quantity and activity of these enzymes differ depending on the species and/or diet (Krogdahl et al., 2011).

The delivery of nutrients to the intestinal lumen is the primary trigger for the secretion of these enzymes, and the composition of nutrients and digestibility of the diet influences the differential secretion of specific enzymes, *e.g.* high protein diets result in elevated trypsin secretion (Olli et al., 1994; Peres et al., 1998). Bile acids secreted from the liver and gall bladder also play a major role, as they emulsify dietary lipids and fat-soluble vitamins ensuring efficient lipid digestion (Bakke et al., 2011).

Following the breakdown of food, solubilized nutrients are taken up across the apical membrane of enterocytes lining the intestine. Nutrients can enter and exit the enterocytes by either following a concentration gradient or via specialized transporters to eventually enter the circulatory system (Bakke et al., 2011). The remaining indigestible components of the diet and other waste products are excreted via the rectum and anus.

For the effective and efficient digestion of food and absorption of nutrients, the abovementioned mechanisms must coincide with a range of tightly regulated and coordinated gastrointestinal motility and blood flow responses (Gräns and Olsson, 2011; Seth et al., 2011). These responses will be discussed in detail in the following two sections.

#### 1.3.1. Pre- and post-prandial motility

A gastrointestinal motility pattern can be defined as 'a group of phasic pressure waves with associated inter-wave intervals and spread that can be recognized visually as related' (Husebye, 1999). Motility patterns are achieved via coordinated contractions and relaxations of circular and/or longitudinal smooth muscle in the gastrointestinal tract, and serve multiple functions such as transporting and breaking down food, as well as preventing bacterial overgrowth and removing wastes (Kunze and Furness, 1999; Nieuwenhuijs et al., 1998; Szurszewski, 1969).

Gastrointestinal motility has been studied for over 100 years, resulting in the description of propagating and non-propagating patterns in a wide range of vertebrates (Bayliss and Starling, 1899; Cannon, 1902; Chang and Leung, 2014; Husebye, 1999). The most intensively studied pre-prandial propagating motility pattern is the neurally regulated migrating motor complex (MMC) (Wingate, 1981). MMCs are comprised of three phases: phase I is a period of quiescence, phase II consists of irregular contractile activity and phase III, which is the most characteristic phase, consists of bands of regular pressure waves propagating along the intestine for relatively long distances (Brierley et al., 2001; Husebye, 1999; Szurszewski, 1969). MMCs are suggested to serve a 'housekeeping' function by preventing bacterial overgrowth and propelling indigestible food components and waste products out of the system (Nieuwenhuijs et al., 1998; Vantrappen et al., 1977). In many species, ingestion of food can have a pronounced effect on the MMC cycle. In the majority of the intermittently feeding mammals studied, feeding switches the MMC cycle from phase III back to phase II (Bueno and Ruckebusch, 1976; Ruckenbusch and Bueno, 1976; Szurszewski, 1969), whereas in continuous feeders, MMCs tend to persist after food intake (Galligan et al., 1985; Grivel and Ruckebusch, 1972; Zheng et al., 2009).

Post-prandial motility includes non-propagating (*i.e.* segmentation) and propagating (*i.e.* peristalsis) contractions (Hennig et al., 2010; Huizinga et al., 2011). Intestinal segmentation consists of annular circular muscle contractions that propel contents short distances in a to-and-fro manner, which serves to mix the intestinal chyme (Chang and Leung, 2014). Post-prandial peristalsis is generally defined as contractions that partially or totally occlude the lumen in order to propel intraluminal contents in an anal direction over longer distances (Huizinga and Lammers, 2009; Huizinga et al., 2011). Peristaltic movements occur in all sections of the gastrointestinal tract and involve the synchronous contraction and relaxation of both circular and longitudinal muscle on either side of a bolus in order to propel it in an anal direction (Chang and Leung, 2014).

'Ripples' are another type of propagating contraction found in mammals. They are rhythmic, shallow contractions of the circular muscle, which can propagate equally well in both directions, although they tend to mainly propagate orally (D'Antona et al., 2001). Ripples are predominantly due to myogenic mechanisms, as they persist following neuronal blockade and their occurrence coincides with slow waves generated by the ICC (Bercik et al., 2000). It has been speculated that ripples could promote or optimise absorption by mixing/circulating intestinal contents over the mucosa (Chen et al., 2013; Dinning et al., 2012; Hennig et al., 2010).

In contrast to the mammalian literature, qualitative and quantitative descriptions of *in vivo* motility patterns in teleosts, as well as the underlying control mechanisms, is a field still in its infancy. Propagating and nonpropagating contractions have been described in vitro or in situ in isolated sections of intestine from brown trout (Salmo trutta) and Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua) (Burnstock, 1958a; Burnstock, 1958b; Karila and Holmgren, 1995). However, these contractions most likely differ to those occurring naturally as the intestine was separated from its blood supply, extrinsic nervous control, and other regions of the gastrointestinal tract (Burakoff and Percy, 1992; Fox et al., 1983; Yin and Chen, 2008). Until now, in vivo gastrointestinal motility patterns in teleosts have only been described in larval zebrafish (Danio rerio) and halibut (Hippoglossus hippoglossus) (Holmberg et al., 2003; Holmberg et al., 2004; Holmberg et al., 2006; Holmberg et al., 2007; Rönnestad et al., 2000). Holmberg et al. (2003) demonstrated that gastrointestinal motility in larval zebrafish progresses from irregular contractile activity into coordinated motility patterns prior to the first feeding event, which coincides

with an increasing development of neuronal control. Furthermore, some contractile activity persists following neuronal blockade, indicating that these contractions are myogenic in origin (Holmberg et al., 2007). These contractions have been suggested to be controlled by ICC (Holmberg et al., 2007; Rich et al., 2007), however relatively little is known about the presence, let alone the physiological function, of these cells in teleosts.

As in mammals, the breakdown and transport of ingested food through the gastrointestinal tract of teleosts would be expected to coincide with an increased gastrointestinal contractile activity. Indeed, following gavage feeding, in vivo contractile activity significantly increases in the intestine of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) (Gräns et al., 2009a). These findings are consistent with a range of *in vitro* and *in situ* studies performed on rainbow trout, as well as in vivo studies performed on Atlantic cod and four species of flatfish (Pleuronectes platessa, Limanda limanda, Scophthalmus rhombus and S. maximus), which all demonstrate an increased frequency of gastrointestinal contractions in response to distension (Grove and Holmgren, 1992a; b). Although the abovementioned studies strongly indicate that contractile activity increases post-prandially, it remains unknown if this is due to an up-regulation of pre-prandial motility patterns or whether motility patterns differ according to feeding state, as is observed in a range of intermittently feeding mammals (Bueno and Ruckebusch, 1976: Ruckenbusch and Bueno, 1976; Szurszewski, 1969).

In summary, significant knowledge gaps regarding *in vivo* gastrointestinal motility in teleosts remain, namely with respect to qualitative and quantitative descriptions of motility patterns in adults and whether specific motility patterns are related to the feeding state of the animal. Furthermore, a better understanding of the role that ICC play in the control of gastrointestinal motility is needed to provide a framework for explaining the different motility patterns.

#### 1.3.2. Pre- and post-prandial circulatory responses

For the contractile activity of gastrointestinal smooth muscle to occur over a long period of time, a functional and well-regulated blood supply is required. Pre-prandial GBF is regulated to a level sufficient for the housekeeping costs of the gastrointestinal tract prior to the ingestion of a meal (Seth et al., 2011). This level varies amongst the teleost species investigated thus far, ranging from 10% of cardiac output in sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) to 40% in Atlantic cod (Axelsson and Fritsche, 1991; Dupont-Prinet et al., 2009). Like most other vertebrates, teleosts do not have the cardiovascular capacity to maximally perfuse all their circulatory beds simultaneously (Farrell et al., 2001). Therefore, physiological and/or environmental challenges that place demands on the circulatory system have been demonstrated to substantially

decrease pre-prandial GBF in a wide range of species (Altimiras et al., 2008; Axelsson and Fritsche, 1991; Axelsson et al., 2000; Crocker et al., 2000; Dupont-Prinet et al., 2009; Gräns et al., 2007; Thorarensen et al., 1993).

Following food ingestion, GBF increases to transport absorbed nutrients from the mucosa around the body for modification, storage and use, as well as to supply oxygen to the metabolising gastrointestinal tissues (Farrell et al., 2001). Post-prandial GBF responses vary depending on species, water temperature, meal size, meal type, physiological status and gastric emptying rates (Farrell et al., 2001; Seth et al., 2011). The magnitude of the post-prandial increase ranges from 71% in sea bass to 156% in rainbow trout (Axelsson et al., 2002; Gräns et al., 2009a). The temporal dynamics of this response also varies widely, as GBF in sea bass increases within 1 h of ingesting a meal to reach peak after 6 h, whereas in other species such as red Irish lord, shorthorn sculpin (Myoxocephalus scorpius) and rainbow trout, GBF slowly increases over time and is elevated for over 72 h (Altimiras et al., 2008; Axelsson et al., 2000; Eliason et al., 2008; Sandblom et al., 2012; Seth and Axelsson, 2009). In some species, it appears that the temporal dynamics of the post-prandial GBF response corresponds with gastric lag phase and total gastric emptying time (Gräns et al., 2009a; Olsson et al., 1999). Furthermore, examination of coeliac (i.e. supplying stomach and liver region) and mesenteric (*i.e.* supplying intestinal region) arterial blood flow in red Irish lord and Atlantic cod demonstrates a postprandial blood flow response consistent with the time-dependent passage of food, as the increase in blood flow through the mesenteric artery is delayed compared with the coeliac artery (Axelsson et al., 2000; Behrens et al., 2012).

The post-prandial increase in GBF places an increased demand on the cardiovascular system of teleosts. As many species experience fluctuations in environmental conditions such as water temperature, oxygen levels and even water salinity, they must be able to adjust their cardiovascular system or make physiological compromises. Indeed, in the face of environmental challenges such as elevated environmental temperature or hypoxia the magnitude of the post-prandial GBF response in some species decreases (Axelsson et al., 2002; Gräns et al., 2009a). Yet, relatively little information exists concerning the consequences of water salinity on pre- or post-prandial GBF in teleosts. This is surprising as many ecologically and economically important species undergo salinity transitions throughout their lives, which have the potential to affect GBF, as the gastrointestinal tract is an essential osmoregulatory organ (Grosell, 2011).

#### 1.3.3. Metabolic implications of feeding

Specific dynamic action (SDA) describes the increase in heat production due to the post-prandial increase in metabolism (McCue, 2006). The processes that account for the increased energy expenditure can be grossly categorized into those that occur during the pre-absorptive, absorptive and post-absorptive stages of food processing. The pre-absorptive stage includes processes such as chewing, swallowing, gut peristalsis, enzyme secretion, acid secretion, protein catabolism, intestinal remodelling and blood pH regulation, while the absorptive stage includes intestinal absorption and nutrient transport (for review see McCue, 2006). However, increasing amounts of evidence suggest that post-absorptive processes such as protein synthesis, ketogenesis, amino acid deamination/oxidation, glycogen production, urea production, renal excretion and growth comprise the majority of the SDA response (Brown and Cameron, 1991a; b; Jobling and Davies, 1980; Seth et al., 2011).

Initially, SDA was determined by using direct calorimetry to estimate heat production, but this method has largely been replaced by measuring whole animal oxygen consumption as a proxy for metabolism (Seth et al., 2011). SDA is calculated by subtracting the dynamic pre-prandial metabolic rate from the dynamic post-prandial metabolic rate (Roe et al., 2004). Four variables are typically used to characterise SDA: the peak value of post-prandial metabolics, duration of elevated metabolism, and the total postprandial metabolic cost (the area between the post-prandial oxygen consumption curve and the pre-prandial baseline) (Chabot et al., 2016).

Investigations of SDA in teleosts have mainly been conducted on species important for commercial (*e.g.* cod, salmon and tuna) and recreational fishing (*e.g.* sunfish, bass and walleye), as well as those used in aquaculture (*e.g.* catfish, trout and tilapia) (for review see Secor, 2009). In aquaculture, research has primarily focused on meal size and composition, water temperature and stocking density, with the central aim of identifying optimal conditions for minimizing SDA so that the maximum amount of absorbed energy is allocated to growth (Chakraborty et al., 1992; Fu and Xie, 2004; LeGrow and Beamish, 1986). Studies have been carried out on a wide range of body masses ranging from 0.5 g zebrafish to 11 kg bluefin tuna (*Thunnus maccoyii*), and reveal substantial differences in SDA ranging from 0.01 to 1.90 kJ (Fitzgibbon et al., 2007; Lucas and Priede, 1992). In teleosts, absolute SDA tends to increase with increasing body mass, meal mass and temperature (Secor, 2009).

On average, feeding results in a rapid two- to three-fold increase in the metabolic rate of teleosts, which peaks within 24 h depending on body temperature (for review see Secor, 2009). This is subsequently followed by a

slow return to the pre-prandial level. The duration of the response varies widely, ranging from 6 h in rainbow trout (Peck et al., 2003) to 390 h in Antarctic spiny plunderfish (*Harpagifer antarcticus*) (Boyce and Clarke, 1997). The SDA duration typically increases with meal mass and decreases with increasing body temperature (Secor, 2009). Oxygen levels in the water can also greatly impact the SDA response in teleosts, as Atlantic cod exposed to hypoxic conditions display a smaller post-prandial peak, yet more prolonged response due to the reduction in aerobic capacity (Jordan and Steffensen, 2005). Although salinity has been demonstrated to have effects on the SDA response of aquatic invertebrates (McGaw, 2006), relatively little information exists for teleosts.

The devotion of energy towards SDA has been demonstrated to compromise swimming performance in species such as rainbow trout, Atlantic cod and Chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha) (Alsop and Wood, 1997; Jordan and Steffensen, 2005; Thorarensen and Farrell, 2006). Conversely, other studies show that energy devoted to SDA decreases in order to maintain activity levels (Blaikie and Kerr, 1996) or that swimming has no influence on SDA dynamics (Beamish, 1974). The disparity in the above findings is not entirely surprising, as various species have adopted different behavioural foraging strategies, which may influence the relationship between SDA and activity levels. Indeed, the examination of behavioural, digestive and metabolic characteristics of teleosts with different foraging strategies has revealed a range of distinctly different responses (Fu et al., 2009). For example, the southern catfish (Silurus meridionlis) classed as a sedentary, ambush predator has a large SDA accompanied with a profound reduction in post-prandial locomotory capacity, whereas more active species such as grass carp (Ctenopharyngodon idellus) and crucian carp (*Carassius auratus*) are able to maintain their post-prandial locomotory capacity via either exhibiting a small SDA or increasing their cardiorespiratory capacity, respectively (Fu et al., 2009). These findings highlight that the ecology of different species can have a profound effect on the partitioning of their metabolic capacity for different activities such as movement and digestion.

# 1.4. The role of the gastrointestinal tract in osmoregulation

The gastrointestinal tract also plays an integral role in the maintenance of osmotic homeostasis in teleosts. It has been estimated that approximately 95% of teleost species are stenohaline, residing in either FW or SW for their entire lives, whilst the remaining species are euryhaline and have the capacity to withstand large variations in environmental salinity (Evans, 1984). The majority of teleosts are surrounded by water with an osmotic

pressure that significantly differs from their plasma osmolarity (~290-340 mOsmol L<sup>-1</sup>; McCormick and Saunders, 1987). FW and SW habitats pose contrasting osmotic challenges and individuals transitioning between them must be able to switch between hyper- and hypoosmoregulatory mechanisms (McCormick, 2001). In FW, teleosts must counteract the passive gain of water and loss of ions, whereas inhabitants of marine environments must counteract the passive loss of water and gain of ions (Fig. 2).



Figure 2. The contrasting osmotic challenges that euryhaline teleosts face when transitioning between FW and SW. (A) In FW, teleosts must hyperosmoregulate to counter the continual loss of salts and entry of water across their permeable body surfaces. (B) In SW, teleosts must hypoosmoregulate to counter the diffusional entry of salts and osmotic loss of water. Illustration by Jeroen Brijs and Albin Gräns.

In FW, limnic and euryhaline teleosts hyperosmoregulate to maintain osmotic homeostasis by minimizing drinking rates, increasing glomerular filtration rates, and producing copious amounts of dilute urine (Perry et al., 2003). Furthermore, mitochondrion-rich cells in the gills contain apical proton pumps coupled to Na<sup>+</sup> channels, as well as apical Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> exchangers

to actively take up ions from the water (Evans, 2008). Another essential source of ions is from the diet, as the quantity of electrolytes absorbed from chyme far exceeds the levels absorbed from the surrounding water (Wood and Bucking, 2011). Furthermore, since many uptake pathways are coupled as Na<sup>+</sup>/nutrient co-transport systems (Bakke et al., 2011), the costs of gastrointestinal uptake of ions has been suggested to be significantly less than branchial uptake (Wood and Bucking, 2011). The gastrointestinal uptake of ions is even more important in species that inhabit FW environments with extremely low ion concentrations (Wood and Bucking, 2011), or a high concentration of environmental contaminants that prevent branchial uptake mechanisms (Kamunde et al., 2003), or in species lacking specific ion uptake mechanisms at the gills (Patrick et al., 1997; Tomasso and Grosell, 2005).

In SW, marine and euryhaline teleosts must hypoosmoregulate to maintain osmotic homeostasis (Evans, 2008). To maintain water balance, drinking rates in SW are 10 to 50-fold higher than in FW (Grosell, 2006; Perrott et al., 1992; Smith, 1930; Takei and Tsuchida, 2000). Imbibed SW initially undergoes significant desalination in the oesophagus with estimates suggesting that approximately half of the NaCl is absorbed in this section of the gastrointestinal tract, which is relatively impermeable to water (Hirano and Mayer-Gostan, 1976; Parmelee and Renfro, 1983). In the stomach, the SW is further diluted before entering the intestine with a markedly reduced osmotic pressure (Grosell, 2006; 2011; Hirano and Mayer-Gostan, 1976).

Despite the absence of net osmotic gradients across the intestinal epithelium, the absorption of water is driven by active NaCl absorption via a range of co-transporters, exchangers, ion channels and Na<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase (Grosell, 2011; Skadhauge, 1974). Fluids absorbed by the intestinal epithelium create a region of localised hypertonicity within the lateral intercellular space, which draws water from the lumen across the intestine and into the body (Grosell, 2006; Larsen et al., 2009; Skadhauge, 1974). The excess gain of monovalent ions from intestinal absorption, as well as the diffusional gain at the respiratory surfaces, is subsequently secreted via mitochondrion-rich cells in the gills (Evans, 2008), whereas the divalent ions are generally secreted renally (Marshall and Grosell, 2005). Interestingly, secretory processes within the intestine have been demonstrated to minimize the demand for renal excretion and thus urinary fluid loss (Grosell, 2011). High intestinal HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> secretion via apical Cl<sup>-</sup>/HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> exchangers in marine teleosts significantly increases fluid absorption due to the net Cl<sup>-</sup> gain, as well as causing an increased precipitation of divalent cations such as Ca<sup>2+</sup> and  $Mg^{2+}$  in the lumen (Wilson and Grosell, 2003; Whittamore, 2012; Whittamore et al., 2010). These precipitates are insoluble carbonates and can be rectally excreted, alleviating the divalent ion load on the kidney, which further facilitates water uptake as the osmolytes in the lumen are effectively removed (Wilson and Grosell, 2003).

The role that the gastrointestinal tract plays in maintaining osmotic homeostasis in teleosts, as well as a wide range of the underlying mechanisms responsible are well established. Yet significant knowledge gaps remain, specifically regarding the effects of contrasting osmotic environments on gastrointestinal motility and circulatory responses in teleosts.

#### 1.4.1. Gastrointestinal motility in FW and SW

Teleosts residing in FW tend not to drink, thus the gastrointestinal tract is mainly active with respect to osmoregulation following the ingestion of a meal (Wood and Bucking, 2011). Therefore, one could expect that post-prandial gastrointestinal motility patterns of these individuals are optimised in a manner that incorporates digestive and osmoregulatory processes.

In contrast, teleosts residing in SW need to continuously drink water and subsequently absorb fluid in the intestine to maintain water balance. Drinking rate in the Japanese eel (*Anguilla japonica*) is regulated via mechano- and ionoreceptors responding to the distension of the stomach/intestine and chemical composition of imbibed SW, respectively (Ando et al., 2003; Hirano, 1974). As intestinal water absorption cannot occur when luminal osmotic pressure is too high, the regulation of drinking is crucial to ensure that imbibed SW is sufficiently desalinated in the oesophagus prior to entering the intestine (Grosell, 2011; Skadhauge, 1969).

As optimal mixing and transport of imbibed fluids increase the efficiency of ion and water absorption (Lee, 1983), one could expect that the receptors regulating drinking rate may also be involved in regulating gastrointestinal motility. This line of reasoning is supported by findings demonstrating that gastrointestinal contractions in rainbow trout and a range of marine teleosts are induced in response to balloon distension (Grove and Holmgren, 1992a; b). However, no propagating contractions could be induced in the intestine of Atlantic cod in response to balloon distension, but peristaltic-like contractions could still be evoked via electrical stimulation (Karila and Holmgren, 1995). In light of their findings, Karila and Holmgren (1995) suggested that ionoreceptors might instead form the main sensory link for the observed contractions.

The input from mechano- and/or ionoreceptors within the gastrointestinal tract of teleosts in SW may result in motility patterns that are similar, but not identical to post-prandial motility patterns, as the chemical composition of imbibed water differs from that of ingested food. Furthermore, in order to optimise ion and water absorption across epithelia,

water should be transported through the gastrointestinal system via coordinated opening and closing of sphincters between the different sections of the tract, as well by motility patterns that mix and propel the fluid from one section to the next (Lee, 1983). The motor activity induced by imbibing SW may also prevent the mucosal build-up of insoluble carbonates and induce the rectal outflow of these precipitates (Grosell, 2011). However, currently these are all speculations, as the effect of salinity on gastrointestinal motility in teleosts has not yet been examined and begs investigation.

#### 1.4.2. Cardiovascular status in FW and SW

As the gastrointestinal tract of teleosts in FW is mainly active with respect to osmoregulation following the ingestion of a meal, pre-prandial blood flow is most likely regulated to a level sufficient for the housekeeping costs of the gastrointestinal tract (Seth et al., 2011). Post-prandial blood flow responses on the other hand, are most likely simultaneously optimised for digestion, absorption and osmoregulation.

In contrast, even in the pre-prandial state of teleosts in SW, the substantial movement of ions and water across the intestinal epithelium into the blood would be expected to coincide with circulatory modifications, as these products need to be transported around the body for excretion or utilisation (Shehadeh and Gordon, 1969). If intestinal contractile activity is elevated in teleosts residing in SW, an increased blood flow may be necessary due to elevations in the metabolic demand of intestinal smooth muscle and/or due to the fact that signalling molecules altering motility, such as acetylcholine and cholecystokinin, can also invoke a circulatory response (for review see Chou, 1982). Furthermore, the dehydrating effect of SW most likely impacts cardiac function as blood volume and blood pressure significantly decreases in a range of teleosts following SW transfer (Hirano, 1974; Olson and Hoagland, 2008; Pedersen et al., 2014). The only study thus far that has investigated changes in blood flow in a euryhaline teleost following SW transfer showed that cardiac output of rainbow trout increased by approximately 30% (Maxime et al., 1991). However, as the circulatory responses of rainbow trout were only examined for 24 h following SW transfer, the effects of prolonged exposure to SW remain unknown.

As GBF represents the only means for transporting ions and water from the gastrointestinal to systemic system, it seems astonishing that GBF responses to varying salinities remains completely unexplored. Circumstantial evidence for the importance of GBF for teleosts in SW can be surmised in studies showing exacerbated dehydration in Chinook salmon exercising in SW (Gallaugher et al., 2001; Thorarensen et al., 1993). Typically this has been interpreted as the 'osmo-respiratory' compromise, which is where increased gill blood flow and hypertension during exercise leads to increased water loss (Nilsson, 1986). However, as GBF of teleosts typically decreases when swimming, it does raise the possibility that impaired intestinal water absorption during exercise may also contribute towards dehydration (Altimiras et al., 2008; Farrell et al., 2001). This line of reasoning is further supported by findings from chronically exercise-trained Chinook salmon that were better able to both preserve GBF, as well as plasma osmolality, during swimming relative to untrained conspecifics (Gallaugher et al., 2001; Thorarensen et al., 1993).

Moreover, another reason to suspect that teleosts in SW may require an elevated GBF is for the maintenance of acid-base balance. Although the secretion of metabolically produced  $HCO_3^-$  into the intestine is essential for osmoregulation, it has substantial implications on acid-base balance (Cooper et al., 2014; Wilson and Grosell, 2003). Specifically, this process generates excess H<sup>+</sup>, which must be excreted to avoid acid-base disequilibria of both intracellular and extracellular environments (Taylor et al., 2011). Indeed, increased intestinal  $HCO_3^-$  secretion in European flounder (*Platichthys flesus*) coincides with increased branchial acid excretion, which demonstrates that transportation of H<sup>+</sup> from the intestine to the gills is occurring (Cooper et al., 2010; Wilson and Grosell, 2003).

If little was known about pre-prandial levels of blood flow in euryhaline teleosts osmoregulating in SW, then even less is known about their post-prandial responses. Although elevated levels of blood flow may be necessary for maintaining osmotic homeostasis, it may also have substantial consequences on the capacity for further increase following the ingestion of a meal. This in turn may have implications on the transportation of absorbed nutrients, oxygen delivery to gastrointestinal tissues, and acid-base regulation during digestion.

#### 1.4.3. Metabolic implications of osmoregulation

Teleosts that are surrounded by water with an osmotic pressure that significantly differs from their plasma osmolarity require transpithelial transport of ions against their concentration gradient in order to maintain salt and water balance. Processes facilitating this transpithelial transport of ions such as  $Na^+/K^+$ -ATPase require energy, and thus it has been suggested that exposure to salinities differing from the animal's plasma osmolarity should impose an increased energetic demand (Ern et al., 2014).

An investigation into the effects of salinity on the oxygen consumption of Nile tilapia (*Tilapia nilotica*) showed that energy expenditure was lowest in the absence of an osmotic gradient (*i.e.* brackish water, 11.6‰) and greatest when the osmotic gradient was highest (*i.e.* SW, 30‰) (Farmer and Beamish, 1969). However, subsequent studies on a wide range of teleosts do not reveal a common trend supporting this hypothesis. Whilst some studies did indeed reveal that the lowest energy expenditure occurs in isoosmotic waters, others have shown that it occurs in waters with a salinity that the particular species normally experiences. Some studies have even shown that the lowest energy expenditure occurs in water salinities that the particular species never naturally experiences (for review see Ern et al., 2014).

In addition to the conflicting findings mentioned above, estimates of the energetic cost of osmoregulation also vary significantly from a few percent up to approximately one third of the organism's standard metabolic rate (Farmer and Beamish, 1969; Morgan and Iwama, 1999; Rao, 1968). However, a wide range of species, acclimation periods, body size and oxygen consumption measurement techniques have been used, all of which make comparisons among studies difficult (Ern et al., 2014). Knowledge concerning the energetic costs of osmoregulation would greatly benefit from a thorough investigation of whole animal energy expenditure in euryhaline teleosts transitioning from FW to SW. Ideally, these animals would be sourced from the same hatchery and examined under similar experimental conditions using methods that allow continuous, high-resolution and accurate measurements of oxygen consumption.

Although whole animal studies, with regard to the energetic costs of osmoregulation, provide a measure of the total cost that a shift in environmental salinity imposes on an organism, they do not provide information concerning regional differences in metabolism within an animal. Theoretical calculations suggest that the direct cost of branchial ion transport in teleosts contributes towards less than 6% of standard metabolic rate (Eddy, 1982; Kirschner, 1993; 1995). An experimental approach measuring oxygen consumption of isolated gills at different salinities also found that the branchial osmoregulatory cost was less than 4% of standard metabolic rate (Morgan and Iwama, 1999). However, the energetic costs of other osmoregulatory organs, such as the intestine and kidney, remain unknown and the cumulative costs of all the organs may indeed significantly influence the overall energy expenditure of teleosts.

## AIMS

The overall aim of this thesis was to increase the knowledge concerning the importance of intestinal motility and gastrointestinal blood flow in teleosts during essential processes such as digestion and osmoregulation. In order to address the overall aim, I have devised the following specific goals:

- Qualitatively and quantitatively describe intestinal motility patterns and their underlying control mechanisms in two different teleost species, rainbow trout and shorthorn sculpin, which display differences in feeding strategies and gastrointestinal morphology.
- Demonstrate the effects that food intake or water salinity has on intestinal motility patterns in the abovementioned teleost species.
- Determine the temporal dynamics of drinking behaviour in euryhaline rainbow trout transitioning from FW to SW, and the consequent effects of drinking on intestinal motility.
- Elucidate the circulatory and metabolic responses of euryhaline rainbow trout during SW acclimation.
- Evaluate the circulatory and metabolic responses of euryhaline rainbow trout simultaneously processing food whilst maintaining osmotic homeostasis in FW and in SW.

Fulfilling these specific goals will enable a greater insight into the importance of the gastrointestinal mechanisms involved in the processing of food and maintenance of osmotic homeostasis, which ultimately underlie the relative fitness of marine and euryhaline teleosts living in the sea.

### **METHODOLOGIES**

This section will provide an overview and discussion of the methodologies used in the studies comprising this thesis. For a more detailed description of the specific surgical procedures and experimental protocols used in each study, the reader should refer to the respective paper indicated by the bold Roman numeral.

### 2.1. Experimental animals

Two different teleost species were studied in this thesis: shorthorn sculpin (Fig. 1, **I & II**) and rainbow trout (Fig. 2, **III**, **IV & V**). Both of these species are relatively robust, easily kept in a laboratory setting and are easily sourced from locations near the university.

Shorthorn sculpin is a benthic marine species in the family Cottidae. This species is widespread in the northern hemisphere (Scott and Scott, 1988). Shorthorn sculpin are opportunistic feeders that utilise a wide range of prey items such as gastropods, amphipods, shrimps, chitons, molluscs, polychaetes and other teleosts (Andersson et al., 1984; Brijs, 2013; Dick et al., 2009). Sculpin are ambush predators and their intermittent carnivorous feeding strategy makes this species an excellent model for examining preand post-prandial intestinal motility patterns. They can devour relatively large prey items, which is reflected in their gastrointestinal morphology. Sculpin possess a large muscular U-shaped sac-like stomach with pyloric caeca located in a ring at the very proximal end of the intestine that is relatively short when compared to herbivorous teleosts (Buddington et al., 1997; Olsson, 2011b).

Rainbow trout, a member of the Salmonidae family, are also carnivorous but tend to feed on numerous small prey items. This is reflected in the slight differences in gastrointestinal morphology when compared to shorthorn sculpin. In trout, the pyloric caeca are more dispersed along the proximal intestine, which forms almost a straight tube from the stomach to the distal intestine unlike the multiple twists and bends found in the proximal intestine of sculpin (see Fig. 1 in Gräns, 2012). The rainbow trout in Sweden are of European stock and therefore a mixture of different strains. They are largely derived from early German strains, which were most likely obtained from California and so resident strains seem to be part of the mixture (Stankovic et al., 2015). The strains in Europe tend not to go through full morphological smoltification and are therefore technically not steelhead trout. However, they are capable of physiological acclimation to SW, as escapees from aquaculture are commonly found roaming the coasts of Sweden in very good condition. Many of the hyper- and hypoosmoregulatory

adaptations of rainbow trout are well documented in the literature, with the exception of motility and circulatory responses. Therefore, the reason we chose this animal as a model species is that we can discuss our results with regard to what is already known, as well as providing some of the missing pieces in the 'osmoregulatory puzzle'.

### 2.2. In vivo intestinal motility

The responses of *in vivo* intestinal motility with respect to feeding state and/or osmoregulatory status were investigated using a couple of different methods. This allowed qualitative and quantitative descriptions of intestinal motility during these processes in either anaesthetised or conscious animals, as well as elucidating some underlying control mechanisms.

#### 2.2.1. Description of motility patterns

*In vivo* intestinal motility patterns of shorthorn sculpin (**I & II**) and rainbow trout (**III**) were qualitatively and quantitatively described using a method originally used for *in vitro* studies of gastrointestinal motility in small mammals. This method is based on 'spatio-temporal maps' (ST maps) generated from video recordings of the gastrointestinal tract (D'Antona et al., 2001; Hennig et al., 2010). Video recordings have also been used to describe gastrointestinal motility *in vivo* in larval teleosts (Holmberg et al., 2003; Holmberg et al., 2007; Rönnestad et al., 2000). However, whereas the gastrointestinal movements of larvae could be directly recorded through their transparent body wall, methodological modifications were required to allow *in vivo* video recordings of motility in adult teleosts.

In the shorthorn sculpin (Fig. 3A), the abdominal cavity was opened via a mid-ventral incision and the intestine was then gently teased out and placed in a modified Petri dish filled with re-circulating Ringer's solution. This process was done carefully to ensure that the intestine was not severed from its blood supply, extrinsic nervous control systems and other regions of the gastrointestinal tract. The intestine was positioned in the Petri dish in a way that there were no twists, restrictions or damage to any blood vessels, nerves and intestinal tissue, and then submerged in Ringer's solution. The preparation was viable for over 5 h, as it did not visually deteriorate and intestinal motility patterns were observed to be repeatable over the entire experimental period. This allowed the documentation of intestinal motility patterns over extended periods of time, as well as the effects of successive additions of pharmacological agents.

In rainbow trout, it was necessary to slightly modify the experimental setup used for shorthorn sculpin due to morphological differences of the intestine. Rainbow trout has a relatively short intestine when compared to sculpin and therefore it was not possible to tease the intestine out of the abdominal cavity in order to place it in a modified Petri dish. Instead, the mid-ventral incision was extended and the abdominal cavity was held open to form a 'natural Petri dish', allowing us to video record the movements of the intestine while it remained in its place and was submerged in Ringer's solution (Fig. 3B).



Figure 3. Schematic representations of the surgical instrumentation used in the studies comprising this thesis. (A) Anaesthetized shorthorn sculpin with the proximal intestine exteriorized and bathed in Ringer's solution in a modified Petri dish awaiting video recording (I & II). (B) Anaesthetized rainbow trout with the proximal intestine remaining in the abdominal cavity bathed in Ringer's solution, but still exposed for video recording (III). Enteric electrical activity (EEA) and intestinal movements around the electrode pair were simultaneously recorded in a few individuals (green line, III). (C) Rainbow trout instrumented with pairs of electrodes in the wall of the proximal intestine for recording EEA (green lines, III), or with a pulsed Doppler flow probe around the coeliacomesenteric artery and a conductivity sensor inserted into the stomach (red lines, IV), or transit-time flow probes around the coeliacomesenteric artery and a modified version of the original figures in papers I, III & IV.

The video recordings were then subsequently transformed to ST maps using a custom-made computer program (VolumetryG8, designed by Dr. Grant Hennig). Essentially, this program transforms each frame of the videorecording into a row of pixels, which corresponds to the diameter of each point along the proximal intestine, and then compiles the rows of pixels into a ST map to allow the visualization, as well as quantification, of complex motility patterns (Fig. 4). The computer software analysis of the ST maps produced calculations of frequency, velocity, duration, propagation distance, amplitude, and interval between consecutive contractions for a wide range of intestinal motility patterns. This allowed the identification of a range of patterns, as well as their respective regional distribution and temporal characteristics. ST maps were used to describe *in vivo* pre- and post-prandial motility patterns, as well as underlying control mechanisms, in shorthorn sculpin (**I & II**), and the effects of salinity on *in vivo* intestinal motility patterns in rainbow trout (**III**).

This approach most likely allows a better approximation of true *in vivo* motility patterns compared to previously used *in vitro* preparations, as the lack of blood supply and extrinsic innervation to the gastrointestinal tract in the latter most likely results in contractile activities different to those occurring naturally (Burakoff and Percy, 1992; Fox et al., 1983; Yin and Chen, 2008). A potential limitation of the current experimental setup is that the animal needs to be anaesthetized during the experiment, which potentially alters the frequency, amplitude and propagation speed of motility patterns (Bueno et al., 1978; Fujimiya and Inui, 2000).

#### 2.2.2. Control mechanisms of intestinal motility

The involvement of neurogenic and myogenic mechanisms in the control of *in vivo* intestinal motility in shorthorn sculpin was investigated by applying specific drugs into the modified Petri dish mentioned in the previous section.

Tetrodotoxin (TTX) was used for determining the neural involvement in the control of intestinal motility (**I & II**). TTX is a highly selective blocker of voltage-gated sodium channels in nerve cell membranes, which prevents the production of action potentials (Blankenship, 1976). Interestingly, there is a gradation of sensitivity in excitable fibres to TTX with nerve fibres being the most sensitive (Blankenship, 1976). Therefore, low concentrations can be used as a neural blockade without impacting the overall cardiovascular status of the individual (Holmberg et al., 2007). A concentration of 1  $\mu$ M TTX was used, as this concentration has been previously shown to diminish/abolish a range of gastrointestinal motility patterns in teleosts (Holmberg et al., 2007; Jensen and Holmgren, 1985; Karila and Holmgren, 1995; Kitazawa et al., 2012). Although TTX is a powerful tool for neural blockade, one must be aware that TTX-resistant voltage-gated sodium channels exist (Blankenship,



Figure 4. Construction of a spatio-temporal map (ST map). (A) Movie frames are taken from the video recording and (B) the upper and lower edges of the intestine are identified to calculate the diameter at each pixel along the segment. (C) The diameter is converted to a greyscale value and plotted in a row with black pixels representing maximum contraction and white pixels representing maximum dilation. (D) An ST map constructed from rows of pixels positioned underneath each other, with each row corresponding to diameters from a single video frame. The overall movements of the intestine can be seen in the edge map located below the ST Map in (D). Position along the intestine is on the horizontal axis, time on the vertical axis (30 min) and diameter is represented by the greyscale value (see calibration box in lower left corner). From these maps, motility patterns can be qualitatively and quantitatively described. The velocity, amplitude, frequency and duration of ripples, which are overlayed with white lines in upper left dashed box of (D), were determined via a series of differential filters, thresholds and criterion (E-F). (G) Slow anally propagating contractions were identified manually and linear lines were overlaid on the contractions to calculate motility parameters similar to that of ripples. Illustration originally from figure in paper I.

1976). The majority of these channels are primarily located in cardiac tissue, however they have also been identified in a sub-population of enteric neurons in guinea pigs and rats (Rugiero et al., 2003).

Benzbromarone is a specific and potent blocker of Ano1, which as previously mentioned is a Ca<sup>2+</sup>-activated Cl<sup>-</sup> channel found to be expressed exclusively in ICC. Benzbromarone was used to determine whether the myogenically driven component of intestinal motility in shorthorn sculpin involves ICC (**II**). The final bath concentration for benzbromarone (100  $\mu$ M) was selected after the initial testing of both 10  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M, which were demonstrated to successfully block Ano1 in mammalian studies (Bernstein et al., 2014; Huang et al., 2012).

Furthermore, to validate these findings, the presence and distribution of ICC in this species was determined via immunohistochemistry using Ano1 as a specific biomarker (see II for more details).

#### 2.2.3. Enteric electrical activity

Electrodes implanted into the wall of a specific section of the gastrointestinal tract enable the detection of the electrical discharge produced by smooth muscle contractions, similar to electromyography. This electrical discharge has recently been defined as 'enteric electrical activity' (EEA) in order to summarise all the electrical activity that occurs in the specific section of the gastrointestinal tract surrounding the implanted electrodes (Gräns, 2012; Gräns et al., 2009a; 2013). The correlation between EEA and smooth muscle contractions has been verified in a number of mammalian and teleost species, and thus this method allows the investigation of *in vivo* gastrointestinal motility in a conscious animal (Aviv et al., 2008; Ferre and Ruckebusch, 1985; Fioramonti and Bueno, 1984; Gräns et al., 2009a; 2013; Gräns and Olsson, 2011; Rodriguez Membrilla et al., 1995).

Electrical spikes observed in EEA recordings have been defined as 'events'. Groups of these events, whereby successive events are separated by periods of less than 1 min, have been defined as 'clusters' (Gräns et al., 2009a). An increasing number of events included in a cluster corresponds to an increasing duration of contraction (Gräns, 2012). Clusters have been demonstrated to occur in a rhythmic fashion in a range of teleosts with little variation in the time between successive clusters (Gräns, 2012; Gräns et al., 2009a; 2013). However, previous studies have only used a single pair of electrodes, which made it impossible to distinguish between propagating and non-propagating contractile activity. By implanting the proximal intestine of an anaesthetised rainbow trout with a pair of electrodes, whilst simultaneously video-recording the intestinal movements around the electrodes, it was possible to correlate EEA with specific motility patterns (III).

By combining all of this information and continuously recording EEA in the proximal intestine of euryhaline rainbow trout transitioning from FW to SW, it was possible to document the temporal dynamics of *in vivo* intestinal motility in response to SW exposure. This in turn could be compared with other time dependent processes, such as drinking behaviour and circulatory responses to SW, to provide further insight on the underlying reasons shaping the migration patterns of salmonids (III & IV).

### 2.3. Drinking response

It is well documented that teleosts living in SW have substantially higher drinking rates than those in FW. The traditional method for evaluating drinking dynamics in teleosts is to dissolve a marker in the water and subsequently measure gastrointestinal uptake (Bath and Eddy, 1979a; Fuentes et al., 1996; Shehadeh and Gordon, 1969). However, this method does not provide the high temporal resolution required for assessing drinking dynamics of a euryhaline teleost acutely transitioning between habitats of different salinity. To our knowledge, the only other method for examining minute-by-minute drinking dynamics utilises a relatively complex and intricate experimental setup including pulse injectors, drop counters, numerous sensors and multiple catheters (Takei et al., 1998). The relatively simple surgical procedure of implanting a conductivity sensor, with an integrated temperature sensor, into the pyloric region of the stomach used in paper IV can also provide minute-by-minute information on drinking dynamics (Fig. 3C). Due to the substantial differences in the conductivity of FW and SW, it was abundantly clear when the animal initiated a drinking response following a transition to SW.

### 2.4. Circulatory responses

Two different types of blood flow measuring systems were used throughout the studies. The Doppler system measures the speed of blood cells by sending out a well defined sound pulse (20 mHz) and analysing the shift in frequency of the echo. Analysis of these measurements allows the changes in relative blood flow and heart rate to be determined. The transit-time system measures the difference in ultrasound transit time between two transducers and provides absolute values of flow (ml min<sup>-1</sup>) (Transonic, www.transonic.com).

Pulsed Doppler flow probes were placed on the ventral aorta of anaesthetised shorthorn sculpin and rainbow trout (**I**, **II & III**) to determine whether individuals were sufficiently anaesthetised and healthy during the experiments (Fig. 3A & B). This was determined by recording relative blood flow and heart rate of the anaesthetised individual prior to making the midventral incision and then monitoring these parameters throughout the experiment. If blood flow and heart rate decreased by more than 30% during the experiment, video recording was stopped and the individual was euthanized.

In paper IV, pulsed Doppler flow probes were used to measure relative GBF and heart rate to determine the circulatory response of euryhaline rainbow trout during an acute transition from FW to SW (Fig. 3C). These probes were used for the initial investigation instead of transit-time flow probes due to their smaller size and ease of instrumentation. However, to record absolute blood flow and investigate the hemodynamic mechanisms underlying the GBF response observed in paper IV, as well as pre- and post-prandial circulatory changes in FW and SW-acclimated rainbow trout in paper V, transit time flow probes were placed on the ventral aorta and coeliacomesenteric artery (Fig. 3C). The absolute blood flow values provided by these probes allow comparisons with previously published values in teleosts, as well as to determine the proportion of cardiac output directed towards the gastrointestinal tract during SW acclimation.

### 2.5. Oxygen consumption

Recent technological advances, such as REDFLASH technology, allow higher resolution oxygen consumption measurements over a broader temporal scale (PyroScience, www.pyro-science.com). The measuring principle is based on the quenching of the REDFLASH indicator luminescence caused by the collision between oxygen molecules and the indicators immobilised on the sensor tip. The REDFLASH indicators are excitable with red light and show an oxygen-dependent luminescence in the near infrared range. The external temperature sensor and integrated pressure sensor of the oxygen meter increase the accuracy of long-term oxygen measurements, as fluctuations in these parameters are automatically compensated for.

This opens the door for investigating the aforementioned disparities in the energetic costs of osmoregulation in teleosts. By utilising similar sized animals sourced from the same hatchery under similar experimental conditions, high-resolution recordings of whole animal oxygen consumption allowed us to elucidate the aerobic metabolic costs of rainbow trout osmoregulating in FW and SW (IV & V). Additionally, by evaluating whole animal oxygen consumption before and after gavage feeding in FW and SW, the effects of salinity on the SDA of rainbow trout could be determined (V).

#### **2.6. Statistics**

The statistical analyses in all of the studies were performed with SPSS Statistics 21 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). The types of statistical analyses varied depending on the study and detailed descriptions can be found in the respective papers. For all the analyses the significance level was adjusted to compensate for multiple comparisons (if required), and a significant difference was assumed when the *p*-value adjusted for was <0.05.

Briefly, in papers I & II, significant differences between quantitative parameters of motility patterns in shorthorn sculpin were assessed via independent or dependent samples t-tests when normally distributed, otherwise Mann-Whitney U-tests were used. Additionally, a Chi-square test was used in paper I to determine whether feeding state was associated with slow anally propagating contractions.

In paper II, the use of normalized contraction values to better identify active contractions prevented comparisons of overall contraction amplitudes between groups using the mean. Therefore, the prevalence of contractions that reduced the diameter by 10% was chosen, as the strength of these contractions are likely to be of biological importance. To determine whether significant differences occurred between the different treatments, a one-way repeated measures ANOVA and Scheffe post-hoc test were used, as Scheffe's method is a single-step multiple comparison procedure which applies to the set of estimates of all possible contrasts among the factor level means, not just the pairwise differences.

In paper III, an independent samples t-test was used to determine whether significant differences occurred between body mass, intestinal diameter, and the mean interval duration between successive MMCs of FWand SW-acclimated rainbow trout. A one-way repeated measures ANOVA was used to determine whether there were any statistically significant differences in EEA variables following a transition from FW to SW.

Linear mixed models were used in papers IV & V and the covariance structure with the lowest Akaike's information criterion was selected for the respective models. In paper IV, the cardiorespiratory variables were repeatedly measured over time and so a first-order autoregressive repeated covariance structure was determined as the best fit. This model used individuals as a subject, measured data as dependent variables, time following a transfer to either FW or SW as a within-subject factor, salinity as a between-subject factor. The interaction between factors, as well as time and intercept were used as random factors to account for individual differences in the time taken to initiate the increase in GBF, as well as the magnitude of the response. In paper V, pre- and post-prandial responses of rainbow trout acclimated to FW or SW were investigated using a model with an unstructured covariance structure. This model used individuals as a subject, measured data as dependent variables, time (day or night for pre-prandial comparisons of FW and SW acclimated trout) or feeding status (pre- and post-prandial for comparing GBF response to feeding in FW and SW acclimated trout) as a within-subject factor, salinity as a between-subject factor, and the interaction between factors. Differences in SDA responses of FW- and SW-acclimated rainbow trout were analysed using an independent samples t-test.

# **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

#### 3.1. In vivo intestinal motility patterns

A diverse array of *in vivo* intestinal motility patterns was qualitatively and quantitatively described in adult shorthorn sculpin and rainbow trout (**I**, **II** & **III**). Some of the patterns displayed in these studies were reminiscent of, or may have similar functions to, mammalian motor patterns and included both propagating and non-propagating contractions. Although patterns potentially sharing similar functions were observed between the species, it was clear that characteristics of these patterns differed significantly, which most likely reflects the differences in feeding strategy and gastrointestinal morphology (Gräns and Olsson, 2011). The most characteristic motility patterns of both species, as well as the influence of food intake and water salinity on these patterns, are discussed below (for detailed descriptions of patterns not discussed refer to **I**, **II & III**).

Rhythmic anally propagating motility patterns could be observed preprandially in shorthorn sculpin and rainbow trout. The rhythmicity, frequency and propagation direction suggest that these patterns are analogous to mammalian MMCs, and most likely serve a similar housekeeping function (Husebye, 1999; Husebye and Engedal, 1992; Nieuwenhuijs et al., 1998; Szurszewski, 1969; Vantrappen et al., 1977). However, clear differences in the characteristics of this pattern could be observed between the two species.

In shorthorn sculpin, the MMC-like pattern consisted primarily of prolonged, circular muscle contractions (see blue dashed lines in Fig. 5, **I & II**). However, in contrast to neurally mediated mammalian MMCs (Brierley et al., 2001; Spencer et al., 2000), the generation of these circular muscle contractions in shorthorn sculpin was mainly dependent on underlying slow waves, as blockade of neural activity only modulated the frequency and amplitude of these contractions but did not abolish them (II). Because of the differences between these contractions and the mammalian MMC, we used the term 'slow anally-propagating contractions' to define this motility pattern.

In rainbow trout, detailed analysis of the rhythmic anally propagating contractions revealed many similarities with the mammalian MMCs, and thus to avoid unnecessary additional terminology they were referred to as MMCs (III). The MMCs in rainbow trout involve the synchronous contractions and relaxations of both circular and longitudinal muscles, which is then followed by a period of quiescence till the next contractile front (Fig 6, III). Furthermore, from the analyses of the simultaneous recordings of intestinal movements and EEA in anaesthetised rainbow trout, it could be determined that MMCs directly correspond to rhythmic EEA clusters (III).



**Figure 5. Spatio-temporal (ST) maps displaying a range of motility patterns in the proximal intestine of shorthorn sculpin.** In fasted sculpin (A–D), motility patterns predominantly consist of ongoing, slow anally propagating contractions (blue dashed lines) and orally propagating ripples (red dashed lines). Fed sculpin (E–H) displayed a similar frequency of ripples, a significantly reduced frequency and rhythmicity of slow anally propagating contractions, a slightly reduced frequency of longitudinal contractions (yellow dashed lines), and an increased frequency of standing contractions (green dashed lines), as well as long duration, orally propagating contractions (pink dashed lines). Outlines of the intestines are displayed below each ST map. Illustration is a modified version of the original figure in paper I.

This information will allow a better interpretation of changes that occur in the intestinal motility of a conscious individual in response to changing environmental conditions, such as those faced by euryhaline teleosts transitioning from FW to SW (see 3.2.2). Unfortunately, it was not possible to determine the underlying control mechanisms of motility patterns in rainbow trout, such as MMC and ripples, as the addition of TTX or benzbromarone into the abdominal cavity resulted in a drastic deterioration of the cardiovascular status and survivorship of rainbow trout (personal observation).

Myogenic ripples were observed, albeit with some variability of prevalence, in all shorthorn sculpin and are best described as rhythmic, shallow circular muscle contractions that generally propagate in an oral direction (see red dashed lines in Fig. 5, **I & II**). Ripples are most likely caused by underlying slow waves in shorthorn sculpin (**II**), as the blockade of channels involved with generating pacemaker transients in the ICC resulted in a complete loss of this pattern (Hwang et al., 2009; Hwang et al., 2016; Zhu et al., 2009). Myogenic ripples in mammals have been suggested to promote or optimise absorption by mixing and circulating the intestinal contents over the mucosal surface of the gastrointestinal tract (Chen et al., 2013; Hennig et al., 2010; Lee, 1983). Although this seems a likely function in teleosts as well, similar frequencies of ripples in shorthorn sculpin regardless of feeding state, as well as an increased presence of ripples in SW-acclimated rainbow trout suggests that this motility pattern may have additional functions (see 3.1.2).

In summary, the methods used in papers **I**, **II & III** proved to be successful for describing *in vivo* intestinal motility patterns in two teleost species, and could easily be applied on a wide range of vertebrates under varying environmental and/or physiological conditions.

#### 3.1.1. Food intake and intestinal motility

By comparing the findings from the intermittently feeding shorthorn sculpin with the continuously feeding rainbow trout (Gräns et al., 2009a; **I & III**), it seems that a similar relationship between feeding strategy and post-prandial motility patterns, as observed in mammals, may also exist in teleosts.

Similar to intermittently feeding dogs and humans (Bueno and Ruckebusch, 1976; Ruckenbusch and Bueno, 1976; Szurszewski, 1969; Yin et al., 2004), food intake significantly altered intestinal motility of shorthorn sculpin, as the frequency of MMC-like contractions were reduced while irregular standing contractions increased (compare Fig. 5A-D with E-H). Post-prandial motility patterns of sculpin reflect the change that is occurring in gastrointestinal function, as the large amplitude and long duration of the



**Figure 6. The migrating motor complex in rainbow trout. (A)** ST map demonstrating four successive migrating motor complexes (MMCs) in a FW-acclimated rainbow trout. After the contractile front (dashed arrow) had ceased, motor activity was subdued with only small longitudinal movements occurring for ~2 min. The amplitude and regularity of the longitudinal movements increased as time progressed, which was sometimes accompanied by an increasing degree of sustained shortening. This continued for ~5 min until it transitioned into rapid longitudinal shortening, which was accompanied by sustained or high frequency circular contractions (**B & C**). During this period, the frequency of phasic contractions almost doubled as seen in the magnified view in (**D**) with intervals between successive contractions decreasing from ~36 to ~15 s. Horizontal red and green lines in (**B**) represent the diameter of the intestine (4.4 mm, red line in **C**) and distance between two blood vessels (5.5 mm, green line in **C**), respectively, after the completion of a complex. Illustration originally from figure in paper **III**.

standing contractions most likely serve to mix and grind the chyme, as well as propelling contents out of the contracting segment and over the mucosa of adjacent regions for absorption (Husebye, 1999; Kunze and Furness, 1999).

Interestingly, in contrast to mammals (Hennig et al., 1999; Tonini et al., 1996), peristaltic contractions propelling intraluminal contents along the tract were not often observed in fed sculpin (I). Since gastric emptying rates, post-prandial GBF responses and SDA duration in teleosts is typically longer than in mammals (*e.g.* days vs. hours; McCue, 2006; Seth et al., 2011), the relatively low frequency of these contractions may be advantageous as this would increase the contact time between chyme and mucosa and therefore promote absorption (Husebye, 1999). Another possibility is that the propulsive activity from the standing contractions may be enough to slowly transport the chyme in an anal direction, which would negate the need for peristaltic contractions in this species (Nguyen et al., 1995).

Pre- and post-prandial intestinal motility of FW-acclimated rainbow trout has previously been investigated using recordings of EEA (Gräns et al., 2009a). Pre-prandial motility of trout was characterised by the rhythmic occurrence of EEA clusters, at a frequency similar to the clusters observed in FW-acclimated trout in paper III, which persisted following the ingestion of a meal. However, Gräns et al. (2009) only measured EEA at one location in the intestine and were therefore unable to determine whether clusters corresponded to propagating contractions. This prevented a comparison with mammalian MMCs, as migration is a key prerequisite for phase III of the MMC (Husebye, 1999). When combining the findings from paper III where EEA clusters represent MMCs, with the results in Gräns et al. (2009), it seems that similar to continuously feeding mammals, MMCs are present in the pre-prandial state of rainbow trout and persist following food intake (Galligan et al., 1985; Gräns et al., 2009a; Grivel and Ruckebusch, 1972; Zheng et al., 2009). The post-prandial persistence of clusters was also accompanied by a significant increase in EEA events and events per cluster, which corresponds to an elevation in post-prandial contractile activity associated with the active processing of chyme (Gräns et al., 2009a).

In summary, these findings provide an example that the distinction between post-prandial motility patterns and feeding strategy holds true in at least two species of teleosts. Both species displayed a rhythmically occurring pre-prandial motility pattern analogous to mammalian MMCs and depending on their respective feeding strategy, the ingestion of food can influence the presence of this motility pattern. However, further studies utilising different species of teleosts are warranted in order to determine whether the above findings are applicable to a wider range of species.

#### 3.1.2. Water salinity and intestinal motility

Acclimation to FW or SW resulted in substantial differences in intestinal motility of rainbow trout (III). In FW-acclimated individuals, intestinal motility was best described by the rhythmic occurrence of MMCs approximately every 7 min (Fig. 7A-C). In SW-acclimated individuals, there was a substantial increase in the excitatory input and/or decrease in the overall inhibition of intestinal motor activity (Fig. 7D-F). The frequency of MMCs increased two to three-fold (Fig. 7G) and the periods of quiescence were replaced by high frequency contractions. This included shallow circular muscle contractions, which are most likely similar to the myogenic ripples observed in shorthorn sculpin (I & II). The increased intestinal contractile activity in SW-acclimated rainbow trout may shed some light on the prevalent occurrence of ripples, regardless of feeding state, in the marine shorthorn sculpin. By mixing and circulating imbibed SW over the intestinal mucosa, ripples may promote or optimise intestinal ion and water absorption necessary for maintaining osmotic homeostasis (Lee, 1983).

Intestinal diameters of FW-acclimated trout were relatively similar and ranged between 3.3 and 4.8 mm, while SW-acclimated trout ranged between 4.0 and 10.1 mm. As all individuals were fasted and similarly sized, these findings indicate that drinking can substantially distend the intestine, and that individual variability in drinking rates and subsequent intestinal distension exists in SW-acclimated individuals (III). Furthermore, the level of intestinal distension within SW-acclimated trout had a substantial effect on intestinal motility, as high levels of distension coincided with a higher frequency and strength of contractions when compared to lower levels of distension (III). These findings strongly indicate that the increased intestinal motility of SWacclimated trout is, at least in part, due to the input from mechanoreceptors responding to intestinal distension. However, it is well documented that euryhaline teleosts acclimated to SW display elevated levels of ions such as Na<sup>+</sup> and Cl<sup>-</sup> in the tissue and cells when compared to the levels displayed in FW (Houston, 1959; Eddy, 1982; Bath and Eddy, 1979a; b). Therefore, in addition to potential input from ionoreceptors, the direct effects of ions on intestinal smooth muscle and/or ICC can not be discounted and warrant further investigation.

In summary, these findings demonstrate that *in vivo* intestinal motility of euryhaline rainbow trout is upregulated during SW acclimation. As intestinal water absorption is essential for the survival of teleosts in marine environments, the increased contractile activity and modifications to intestinal motility patterns is most likely necessary to transport and mix the imbibed SW in an optimal manner to increase the efficiency of ion and water absorption, as well as to prevent the mucosal accumulation of carbonate precipitates (Grosell, 2011; Wilson et al., 2002).



# 3.2. Crossing the freshwater-ocean boundary

#### 3.2.1. The drinking response

The high-resolution recordings of stomach fluid conductivity confirmed that rainbow trout tend not to drink whilst in FW (Fuentes et al., 1996; Shehadeh and Gordon, 1969), as conductivity of stomach fluids was stable and remained approximately three-fold higher than the surrounding water (Fig. 8A, IV). Rainbow trout initiated a drinking response when exposed to increasing salinity, as seen by an increase in stomach fluid conductivity. All individuals had begun drinking long before the surrounding water had changed from FW to full strength SW, which took approximately 2.5 h. These recordings also demonstrate that substantial desalination of imbibed SW occurs in the oesophagus, as conductivity of fluids entering the stomach was always less than 60% of the conductivity of SW (Fig. 8A). As

previously mentioned, oesophageal desalination of imbibed SW is essential for facilitating subsequent intestinal water absorption (Hirano and Mayer-Gostan, 1976; Kirsch and Meister, 1982; Parmelee and Renfro, 1983).



**Figure 8. Temporal dynamics of the drinking response and changes in the intestinal motility of rainbow trout transitioning from FW to SW. (A)** The changes in stomach fluid conductivity of an individual rainbow trout transitioning from FW to SW (the black line represents the conductivity of the surrounding water). (B) A raw trace demonstrating the typical changes that occur in EEA, a proxy for intestinal contractile activity, of a rainbow trout undergoing a similar transition from FW to SW. This trace demonstrates the typical increase in the frequency and amplitude of EEA events, as well as the increase in the frequency in EEA clusters and events per cluster. Illustration is a modified version of the original figures in papers III & IV.

#### 3.2.2. Acute changes in intestinal motility

In FW, the EEA of unfed rainbow trout was characterised by rhythmic clusters or MMCs occurring every 4-5 minutes, which was higher than the frequency observed in the anaethetised individuals discussed in the previous section. However, this can most likely be attributed to the effects of anaesthesia, which has previously been demonstrated to alter the frequency of motility patterns in a range of mammals (Bueno et al., 1978; Fujimiya and Inui, 2000). Based on aforementioned findings, the acute transition to SW would be expected to coincide with an increased intestinal motor activity in this euryhaline teleost species. Indeed, visual and statistical inspection of the EEA traces revealed a gradual increase in the motor activity of the intestine (Fig. 8B). After approximately two days, the contractile activity of the intestine typically seemed to plateau at a significantly elevated level with an increased frequency of EEA clusters/MMCs and events, which corresponds well to the findings from the video recordings of the intestine in SW-acclimated animals (III).

Collectively, these findings clearly demonstrate that upon exposure to SW, drinking and intestinal contractile activity of rainbow trout significantly increases, and remains at an elevated level in fully acclimated animals.

#### 3.2.3. Hypoosmoregulatory circulatory responses

The acute transition (**IV**) and long-term acclimation (**V**) of rainbow trout to SW was closely linked with several circulatory modifications. Following the rapid drinking response and subsequent changes in intestinal motility, GBF began to increase after approximately 2 days in SW. After 4 days in SW, GBF was two-fold higher than that observed in FW (**IV**). This substantially elevated level was maintained in fully acclimated individuals (Fig. 9A, **V**).

Studies on a range of salmonid species have demonstrated that branchial and intestinal Na<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase begins to increase after ~24-72 h in SW (Genz et al., 2011; Madsen and Naamansen, 1989; Seidelin et al., 2000; Tipsmark and Madsen, 2001). This approximately coincides with the temporal changes in intestinal motility (**III**) and GBF (**IV**), indicating that whilst simultaneously increasing motility and GBF to optimise water uptake and transportation of ions and metabolic waste products for subsequent excretion, it is also necessary for the gills and the gastrointestinal system to transform into a hypoosmoregulatory functional state. Furthermore, the timing of these physiological modifications roughly coincides with the gradual return of osmotic balance after an initial period of significantly elevated plasma osmolality in salmonids transitioning from FW to SW (Bath and Eddy, 1979a; Fuentes et al., 1996; Seidelin et al., 2000). Collectively,



**Figure 9. Circulatory responses of rainbow trout during SW acclimation. (A)** Relative gastrointestinal blood flow (GBF) and **(B)** relative stroke volume of rainbow trout transitioning from FW (blue diamond) to SW (red diamonds). Relative GBF and stroke volume of trout increased during an acute transition to SW (p=0.008 and <0.001, respectively, **IV**), and remained elevated at these levels after >42 days of SW acclimation (p<0.001 and 0.079, respectively, **V**). Heart rate was not significantly affected (data not shown). Black dashed line represents a transition to SW at 0800 h. Absolute blood flow data from trout >42 days in SW has been converted to a relative value using the mean FW value as 100% in order to plot both data sets on one graph, however, the statistical analyses are based on the original data. Samples sizes are reported in the specific papers. Data are presented as means±S.E.M. Illustration is a modified version of the original figures in papers **IV & V**.

these findings suggest that an increased intestinal motility and GBF is important for euryhaline teleosts maintaining osmotic homeostasis in SW.

In FW-acclimated rainbow trout, 30% of cardiac output was directed towards the gastrointestinal tract (V). The elevated GBF of trout in SW was most likely due to local vasodilation of the gastrointestinal vasculature, as this would allow an increased proportion of blood flow to be directed to the gastrointestinal tract. In fact, almost half of the cardiac output was directed to the gastrointestinal tract of SW-acclimated trout (V), which is higher than any previously documented values for unfed teleosts (Seth et al., 2011). In order to maintain arterial blood pressure, the increased proportion of blood directed from the systemic to gastrointestinal vasculature was compensated for by an increase in cardiac output (Seth et al., 2011). The elevation in cardiac output of SW-acclimated trout closely matched the increase in GBF (V). This finding further highlights the importance of GBF for trout in SW, as the gastrointestinal tract received virtually all of the increase in cardiac output.

The increase in cardiac output was primarily mediated via an elevated stroke volume, as heart rate was not significantly different to FW-acclimated individuals (V, Brijs et al., 2016a). Although cardiac output was not determined in trout in paper IV, the combination of an unchanged heart rate and a response profile for relative intestinal pulse volume closely mirroring that of GBF during the acute transition to SW (Fig. 9B), strongly indicates that the underlying hemodynamic mechanisms responsible for the elevated GBF are similar to those observed in rainbow trout acclimated to SW (V).

#### 3.2.4. Underlying hemodynamic mechanisms

Exposure to SW could be expected to have a volume-depleting effect on trout, which would subsequently result in a reduced circulating blood volume and central venous pressure, unless there are active reductions in venous capacitance (Olson, 1992; Sandblom and Axelsson, 2007a). Central venous pressure represents the cardiac filling pressure and is the main determinant of the end-diastolic volume *in vivo*, which subsequently determines stroke volume (Farrell, 1991; Farrell et al., 1988; Farrell and Jones, 1992). Therefore, in order to achieve an elevated stroke volume in SW (V), euryhaline rainbow trout must possess the capacity for active venous compensation.

The only study comparing *in vivo* cardiac filling pressures of teleosts acclimated to either FW or SW reported lower central venous pressures in SW-acclimated rainbow trout, which indicates a very limited capacity for active venous compensation (Olson and Hoagland, 2008). However, it should be noted, that the surgical procedures used in that study involved opening the pericardium, which has been demonstrated to compromise

cardiac and venous function (Farrell, 1991; Farrell et al., 1988; Sandblom and Axelsson, 2006; Sandblom and Axelsson, 2007b).

Central venous pressure measured in trout with an intact pericardium revealed that FW-acclimated rainbow trout utilized a *vis-á-fronte* cardiac filling mechanism, whereby sub-ambient central venous pressures created by cardiac suction sustained resting cardiac output (Brijs et al., 2016a). This is consistent with other studies on FW-acclimated trout (Altimiras and Axelsson, 2004; Sandblom and Axelsson, 2005; Sandblom and Axelsson, 2007b). In contrast, SW-acclimated trout exhibited a greater reliance on *vis-á-tergo* cardiac filling where central venous pressure attained positive values (Brijs et al., 2016a). This increase in cardiac filling pressure could explain the elevated stroke volume in SW-acclimated trout, which resulted in a resting cardiac output ~50% higher than FW-acclimated trout (V, Brijs et al., 2016a). Furthermore, these hemodynamic modifications coincided with a significant increase in the proportion of compact myocardium (Brijs et al., 2016a), which may be necessary to compensate for the increased wall tension associated with a larger stroke volume (Farrell, 1991).

#### 3.2.5. Energetic costs of osmoregulation

It has been suggested that maintaining osmotic homeostasis in SW could be energetically more costly than in FW, due to the larger ionic gradient between the internal and external medium (Boeuf and Payan, 2001; Ern et al., 2014). Yet, the acute transition to SW did not significantly affect the standard metabolic rate of trout (**IV**). This suggests that the abovementioned physiological and behavioural modifications that occur during the first 96 h in SW do not incur an additional aerobic metabolic cost. In contrast, after 6 weeks of acclimation to SW, rainbow trout exhibited standard metabolic rates ~20% higher than FW-acclimated trout (**V**), suggesting that the more permanent regulatory changes associated with hypoosmoregulation such as increased intestinal and branchial Na<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase impose an additional cost.

However, a recent in-depth investigation into the metabolism of rainbow trout acclimating to SW contradicts the metabolic findings of paper V. By investigating the temporal dynamics of osmotic balance, intestinal Na<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase, whole animal oxygen consumption, intestinal mitochondrial respiration, as well as the activities of aerobic and anaerobic metabolic enzymes in uninstrumented rainbow trout during a 35 day SW acclimation period (Brijs et al., 2016b), we were better able to characterize and understand the energy metabolism of this species during the transition from a hyper- to hypoosmoregulatory state. Briefly, the simultaneous upregulation of Na<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase activity in the gills, pyloric caeca and intestine coincide with the return of osmotic homeostasis in rainbow trout ~5 days after a transition to SW (Brijs et al., 2016b; Madsen et al., 1995; Seidelin et al.,

2000). The increased ATP demand of  $Na^+/K^+ATPase$  did not incur significant aerobic costs at the whole animal level, as the standard metabolic rate of trout during SW acclimation period did not differ (Brijs et al., 2016b). However, a recent review has highlighted that measures of whole animal oxygen consumption rate may only be a partial proxy for energy metabolism as the amount of ATP generated per unit of oxygen consumed can vary significantly, within and between individuals, as well as between populations and environments (Salin et al., 2015). Indeed, the underlying metabolic mechanisms that fuel the osmoregulatory machinery in the intestine of rainbow trout were modulated in SW, as mitochondrial coupling efficiency and glycolytic ATP production were increased to satisfy the elevated energetic demands (Brijs et al., 2016b). These findings highlight the importance of integrating measurements of metabolism at different levels of biological organization when investigating the link between energy metabolism and animal performance.

The lack of an elevated standard metabolic rate in uninstrumented SW-acclimated rainbow trout in Brijs et al. (2016b) made me question the underlying reason for the elevations in pre-prandial standard metabolic rate of instrumented SW-acclimated rainbow trout in paper V. Closer examination of individual whole animal oxygen consumption rates indicates that SW-acclimated rainbow trout may require a longer recovery time from surgery than FW-acclimated individuals. After 24 h of recovery, the oxygen consumption of all FW-acclimated trout had stabilised, whereas in SWacclimated trout these values were still tending to decrease. Further indications that 24 h may not be a sufficiently long enough recovery period following surgery for SW-acclimated rainbow trout can be seen in their slightly elevated plasma osmolality (~350 mOsmol kg<sup>-1</sup> H<sub>2</sub>O) compared with the average plasma osmolality of uninstrumented SW-acclimated individuals (~315 mOsmol kg<sup>-1</sup> H<sub>2</sub>O) (Brijs et al., 2016a; b). Collectively, this emphasizes that the time required for recovery from surgery is variable and situation dependent, even within species, and thus needs to be considered when designing new experiments and interpreting data in the future.

# 3.3. Circulatory scope of a euryhaline teleost

The elevated pre-prandial circulatory demands imposed on rainbow trout maintaining osmotic homeostasis in SW may have implications on the capacity for this species to further increase GBF during the processing and digesting of a meal. If SW-acclimated trout cannot further increase GBF in response to a meal, it may negatively impact the transportation of absorbed nutrients, oxygen delivery to gastrointestinal tissues, as well as acid-base regulation during digestion (Seth et al., 2011; Wilson and Grosell, 2003).

Following the introduction of a meal corresponding to 1% body mass by gavage, FW- and SW-acclimated rainbow trout displayed similar increases in absolute GBF (Fig. 10A, V). However, there are indications that SW-acclimated trout are approaching their maximum capacity for GBF, as individual variation in post-prandial GBF was much less than that observed pre-prandially, as well as the variation generally observed in FW-acclimated individuals (compare error bars in Fig. 10A).

The elevated post-prandial GBF was due to an increased proportion of cardiac output directed towards the gastrointestinal system, with increases of  $7.1\pm4.6\%$  and  $5.7\pm4.4\%$  in FW and SW respectively, which was compensated for by an elevated cardiac output (Fig. 11, V). SW-acclimated trout exhibit a relatively smaller post-prandial increase in cardiac output than



Figure 10. Post-prandial circulatory and metabolic responses of rainbow trout in FW and SW. (A) Gastrointestinal blood flow (GBF) and (B) specific dynamic action (SDA) of rainbow trout in FW (blue bars) or SW (red bars). GBF increases by similar amounts following feeding in both acclimated groups, however, trout in SW maintain a consistently higher GBF than individuals in FW (V). The SDA, determined by integrating the area between the post-prandial oxygen consumption curve and preprandial oxygen consumption baseline, did not significantly differ between acclimation groups (V). Samples sizes are reported in V. Significance is defined as P<0.05. Data are presented as means±S.E.M. Illustration is a modified version of the original figure in paper V.

FW-acclimated individuals. This may indicate that the gastrointestinal system cannot receive any more blood as it has reached a maximum level at  $\sim$ 55% of cardiac output, which is greater than any documented values for teleosts (for review see Seth et al., 2011), or that these individuals only require a smaller additional circulatory response to aid in the process of digestion due to their elevated pre-prandial level.

Rainbow trout acclimated to SW generally exhibited higher pre- and post-prandial oxygen consumption rates when compared to FW-acclimated individuals (V). However, the total postprandial metabolic cost or SDA, which was determined by integrating the area between the post-prandial oxygen consumption curve and the pre-prandial baseline, did not significantly differ between the groups (Fig. 10B). The duration of the SDA in rainbow trout, regardless of salinity, lasted longer than 72 h, which is typical of an ectothermic species digesting a meal at low temperatures (McCue, 2006; Wang et al., 2002). These findings suggest that environmental salinity does not significantly affect the metabolic costs associated with digestion (V). However, a limitation of this study was the high mortality rate in SW-acclimated trout following gavage feeding (50% compared to <8% in FW). All individuals in both acclimation groups were voluntarily feeding without any mortality prior to the experiments, which indicates that gavage feeding had a greater negative impact on the SWacclimated trout. This may be related to a pronounced disruption in the acidbase balance of SW-acclimated trout, as not only do SW-acclimated trout display a greater post-prandial alkaline tide than FW-acclimated individuals (Bucking and Wood, 2008; Bucking et al., 2009;), but that the process of gavage feeding further exacerbates this metabolic alkalosis (Cooper and Wilson, 2008). This may have resulted in a post-prandial alkaline tide that half of the SW-acclimated individuals were unable to recover from. Ideally, future investigations should use biotelemetric techniques, which would allow the investigation of postprandial metabolic and circulatory responses of freely swimming and voluntarily feeding euryhaline teleosts acclimated to different salinities (Gräns et al., 2009; 2010).

Although SW-acclimated trout had the circulatory capacity required to elevate arterial blood flow post-prandially in paper V, another study carried out on similar sized conspecifics from the same hatchery revealed that they may have a limited capacity for further elevations in blood flow when exposed to an acute temperature increase (Brijs et al., 2016a). In this study (Fig. 11D-F), cardiac output increased in response to acute warming through a similar tachycardia in both FW- and SW-acclimated trout, consistent with previous studies (Clark et al., 2008; Ekström et al., 2014; Gamperl et al., 2011; Sandblom and Axelsson, 2007b). However, the magnitude of the

temperature-induced increase in cardiac output differed between the groups due to a tendency for a reduction in stroke volume of SW-acclimated trout.

It has been suggested that a reduction in stroke volume due to increasing heart rate is caused by a reduction in cardiac filling time (Altimiras and Axelsson, 2004). However, this mechanism does not explain the tendency for stroke volume to decrease only in SW-acclimated trout, as both acclimation groups exhibited a similar heart rate response to acute warming. Moreover, as the central venous pressure remained higher in the SW-acclimated group, this should have buffered the negative effect of the tachycardia on stroke volume to a greater extent than in the FW-acclimated group where central venous pressure remained sub-ambient (Brijs et al., 2016a). This suggests that factors other than a reduced cardiac filling time are constraining stroke volume and therefore limiting the increase in cardiac output of SW-acclimated trout following an acute temperature increase.

Again, this may be related to a pronounced disruption in the acid-base balance of SW-acclimated trout, as the hypoosmoregulatory mechanism involving intestinal precipitation of carbonates is associated with a net H<sup>+</sup> gain, which must then be transported to the gills to be excreted (Genz et al., 2008; Grosell, 2011). This blood acidosis may be more pronounced following an acute temperature increase due to a direct temperature effect on intestinal carbonate precipitation (Wilson et al., 2002; Wilson et al., 2009), and/or an increase in osmoregulatory activity at higher temperatures in order to maintain osmotic homeostasis in the face of exacerbated dehydration due to a greater 'osmo-respiratory compromise' (Nilsson, 1986). The pronounced blood acidosis in SW-acclimated trout may negatively affect cardiac contractility (Driedzic and Gesser, 1994), which could explain the tendency for stroke volume to decrease during acute warming (Brijs et al., 2016a).

Although the abovementioned studies demonstrate the complex interacting effects of water salinity with either feeding or temperature on the cardiovascular function of rainbow trout, one must be wary interpreting the ecological implications of these findings. It is possible that circulatory responses were either exaggerated or constrained due to a range of factors: i) gavage feeding has been suggested to bypass crucial neuroendocrine mechanisms for initiating preparatory compensatory acid-base responses (Cooper and Wilson, 2008), ii) the rate of heating in Brijs et al. (2016a) was relatively rapid compared to natural events such as heat waves (Meehl and Tebaldi, 2004), and iii) although rainbow trout are capable of physiological acclimation to SW, they are a farmed FW resident strain as opposed to wild migratory steelhead strains. Nevertheless, my findings provides a solid physiological platform for further investigations on the ecological implications of interacting abiotic and biotic factors on euryhaline and migrating teleosts.



Figure 11. Circulatory responses of rainbow trout following the ingestion of a meal or an acute temperature increase. Cardiac output, stroke volume and heart rate of FW- (blue squares and lines) and SW-acclimated rainbow trout (red diamonds and lines) following the ingestion of a meal (A-C) or an acute temperature increase (D-F). Statistical analyses generated via a two-way mixed ANOVA are summarized in each figure panel with statistically significant responses highlighted in bold. Significance is defined as P<0.05. Data are presented as means±S.E.M. Illustration is a modified version of the original figures in paper V and Brijs et al., 2016a.

## SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The overall aim of this thesis was to increase the knowledge concerning the importance of intestinal motility and gastrointestinal blood flow in teleosts during essential processes such as digestion and osmoregulation. In order to accomplish this, a range of specific goals needed to be achieved.

By further developing and adapting video recording and spatiotemporal map analyses, it was possible to qualitatively and quantitatively describe a range of propagating and non-propagating intestinal motility patterns *in vivo* in adult teleost species for the first time (**I**, **II & III**). Many of the motility patterns observed in shorthorn sculpin and rainbow trout are reminiscent of well-documented mammalian motor patterns, which allow further insight on their respective functions. However, unlike mammals, the majority of these rhythmic contractile patterns are generated and propagated by ICC, while neural activity only modulates the frequency and amplitude of these contractions (**II**).

Intestinal motility patterns differ between fasted and fed individuals, which reflects the differences in gastrointestinal function that occurs during the two different feeding states (I). Pre-prandially, both species of teleost display a rhythmic anally propagating motility pattern that resembles, and most likely shares a similar housekeeping function as, mammalian MMCs (I-III). Following the ingestion of food, the rhythmic anally propagating motility pattern is reduced and replaced by irregular motor activity in the intermittently feeding shorthorn sculpin (I), whereas this pattern persists in the continuously feeding rainbow trout. These findings demonstrate that the distinction between post-prandial motility patterns and feeding strategy in mammals also holds true in at least two species of teleosts.

By examining a range of behavioural and physiological parameters in rainbow trout transitioning from FW to SW, it was possible to elucidate additional processes that are involved in the maintenance of osmotic homeostasis (III, IV & V). Although it is already well documented that drinking and oesophageal desalination of imbibed SW is essential for subsequent fluid absorption in the gastrointestinal tract, our findings demonstrate the relatively immediate nature of these responses in a euryhaline teleost transitioning from FW to SW (IV). When rainbow trout imbibe SW, it results in a substantial distension of the intestine and a significant increase in intestinal contractile activity, which is maintained in fully SW-acclimated trout (III). The observed relationship between levels of intestinal distension and motor activity in SW-acclimated trout suggests that mechanoreceptors are involved in the upregulation of intestinal motility in SW, although the influence of ionoreceptors and the direct effects of elevated ions on gastrointestinal motility cannot be discounted (III). Increased intestinal motor activity of euryhaline teleosts in SW is likely part of the overall response to maintain osmotic homeostasis, as increased drinking and mechanical perturbation of fluids is necessary to optimize intestinal ion and water absorption, as well as to prevent the mucosal accumulation of carbonate precipitates.

The increased intestinal motility of rainbow trout in response to SW also coincides with essential circulatory modifications (IV). GBF of rainbow trout transitioning from FW to SW began to increase after ~2 days and reached a level two-fold higher than in FW after 4 days (IV). The elevated level of GBF was maintained in fully SW-acclimated trout (V). The increase in GBF is most likely due to a decrease in the vascular resistance of the gastrointestinal tract, which is compensated for by significant increases in cardiac output via an elevated stroke volume (V). The elevation in blood flow in euryhaline teleosts residing in SW is important for the transportation of ions, water and metabolic wastes from the gastrointestinal tract to their respective sites around the body. In uninstrumented rainbow trout, the abovementioned osmoregulatory modifications do not increase standard metabolic rate, instead mitochondrial coupling efficiency and glycolytic ATP production is increased to satisfy the elevated energetic demands. As the temporal dynamics of the abovementioned elevations in intestinal motility and blood flow closely match the gradual return of osmotic homeostasis in rainbow trout following a transition to SW, my findings strongly suggest that these processes are integral for the maintenance of osmotic homeostasis in euryhaline teleosts (III, IV & V).

Finally, despite elevated pre-prandial levels of GBF, SW-acclimated trout were still able to further increase gastrointestinal perfusion following a meal (V). Furthermore, the similar SDA response of FW- and SW-acclimated trout in the present study suggests that environmental salinity does not significantly affect the metabolic costs associated with digestion. Although SW-acclimated trout had the circulatory scope required to elevate arterial blood flow post-prandially (V), there are indications that cardiovascular scope is reduced in these individuals, especially during acute environmental temperature increases.

In conclusion, this thesis clearly demonstrates the importance of gastrointestinal motility and blood flow in teleosts during digestion and osmoregulation, as well as providing a physiological platform for future investigations into processes underlying the relative fitness of teleosts in the marine environment. Due to the potential limitations in circulatory scope of euryhaline rainbow trout, a pressing issue requiring attention are the effects of interacting environmental factors on gastrointestinal function in teleosts and the ecological implications of these effects, especially when one considers the rate at which the planet is currently changing.

### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

The last 5 years have been bloody amazing and filled with life changing experiences and good times, however, none of this could have happened if it wasn't for a whole bunch of people that I would now personally like to acknowledge...

First of all, I would like to thank my love, **Babbles**, for all the great adventures, trips and experiences we have had together, introducing me to Knödel and Speck, the extensive range of songs you have composed about me, supporting me through thick and thin, putting a smile on my face during stressful times, and for your willingness to push your boundaries in things like snowboarding and diving so that we can share these moments with each other. I can't wait till we begin our little trip around the world together!!

A huge thanks to my awesome supervisors **Catharina**, **Michael** and **Erik**!! Each one of you has been a massive and unique influence on my progression as a 'scientist'. From searching for ICCs in Göteborg, tackling crocodiles in South Africa, and wandering the streets of Salzburg (its thatta way...), we have shared some great times whilst getting quite a lot published. If I could start another PhD with you three I would jump at the chance!!

Thanks to my examiner, **Thrandur**, for deeming my thesis fit for defence and thanks in advance to **Rod Wilson** for agreeing to be my opponent, taking the time to read this thesis and more than likely putting me on the spot come February 2017.

A 'chur bro' goes to **Calum** for whom I am indebted to for sending me the PhD application after I visited in the amazing summer of 2011. We had some crazy times over the years and I will never forget some of the stupid, yet hilarious, things we did such as 'breakfast tequilas before rollercoasters in Liseberg'. Good times!

Going to work at Zoologen was something I always looked forward to (except maybe on Monday mornings) and the reason for that is due to the large group of great friends I have made here. **Freshness**, you are a legend and a great office companion (although your avocado tree tending abilities could use some work), we had some premium times together during our PhD, from organizing an early morning breakfast call for Erik and Fredrik in Valencia, drinking chlorphyllovka and getting eaten by Pterodactyl-sized mosquitos in the White Sea and of course your favourite, the stats course in Lisbon, cheers bro! **Albin**, not only were you my academic role model and a healthy source of professional criticism, but also a good friend who I could smash at squash, get dehydrated with in a sauna in Åland and have a laugh with. I would love to write a little section for everybody but then my

acknowledgement section would be longer than my thesis, but I would especially like to thank Malin, Josefin, Andre 3000, Big Daddy, Kirsikka, Jimbo, Svante, Australia, Joacim, Evil-Otter, Libidor, Venereal Steel, Pocket Per, Andreas the Peasant, Toby, Ida and the rest of the Poker crew for the convos, laughs, beers, dancing, mushroom picking, poker, squash, more beers and just great times we have shared over the years! To be honest, I would like to thank everybody in Zoologen (staff and students, past and present) for providing an academic and social environment that emanates such great vibes!

So while the work environment was awesome, it was also great to have a bunch of great people outside of work to socialise with and to 'unwind'. It was fun going to the lovely beach and forest parties, watching footy, playing games or just chilling with all the people I hung out with over the last five years (**Riccardo, Andreas, Per, Theresa, Charlie, Anna, Harris, Austrian Harry, Christian, Tiger, Ruud, Göran, Ann-Kristin** and **Jesse**). The football weekends with the '**Dutch connection**' were also hilarious, as was the majority of the time spent in Holland with **Johnny, De Kaale** and **Douwe**, we had and will carry on having a lot of laughs on our adventures! Also a big thanks to **Carina** for introducing me to the wonderful world of UCPA and all the cool people I met there!

On a more professional note, thanks to **all my collaborators** for working super hard and helping get some pretty nice research out there! Thanks to **Grant Hennig** who went above and beyond normal expectations with helping out with the motility studies, it was very much appreciated! Also thanks to my good friend and prominent Czech researcher **Mrs Liborina Zavorka** and the **Salmonid Ecology Group** for making me an honorary member (I got the T-shirt) and keeping me in touch with my ecology roots, as well as publishing in some nice journals. Also a special mention must go to **Erik Sandblom and the Forsmark team** for the amazing field season leading to a Nature communications paper and several other publications. Thanks to **Nicolas Pichaud** for holding my hand whilst entering the mitochondria world, hopefully we don't get reviewer no. 2 ever again!

I would like to thank my Hoeksche Waard father and mother, **Ben** and **Lieske**, for letting me stay with them when I came to Holland and also for just being amazing and generous people! Also, I would like to thank my new Austrian family **Manu**, **Wooly**, **Opa**, **Renate** and **Andreas** for their hospitality and good times when I visit Innsbruck with Laura.

Last, but certainly not least, thanks **mama** and **papa** for being amazing parents and providing me with the means and the support to do what I want to do! Words cannot express how grateful I am to you both! Enjoy your retirement to the max and I am looking forward to catching up with you both in Europe in 2017! Also to my little brothers (**Erik** and **Robin**) and sister (**Alfrey**), I am sorry I haven't been around much in the last 5 years to hang out, but hopefully in the future we can have some cool adventures again!

To anyone I may have forgotten, I sincerely apologize and I still think your awesome!

### Tack så jättemycket!

The research comprising this thesis was generously supported by the following funding agencies:

-Helge Ax:son Johnsons stiftelse

-Kungl. Vetenskaps- och Vitterhets-Samhället

-Stiftelsen Wilhelm och Martina Lundgrens Vetenskapsfond

-Company of Biologists Travel Grant

-Herbert och Karin Jacobssons Stiftelse

-Stiftelsen Paul och Marie Berghaus donationsfond

-Adlerbertska Stipendiestiftelsen

-Stipendiefonden Viktor Rydbergs minne.

### **REFERENCES**

- Agostinho, C. S., Agostinho, A. A., Marques, E. E. and Bini, L. M. (1997). Abiotic factors influencing piranha attacks on netted fish in the upper Paraná River, Brazil. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 17, 712-718.
- Alsop, D. H. and Wood, C. M. (1997). The interactive effects of feeding and exercise on oxygen consumption, swimming performance and protein usage in juvenile rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus* mykiss). Journal of Experimental Biology 200, 2337-2346.
- Altimiras, J. and Axelsson, M. (2004). Intrinsic autoregulation of cardiac output in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) at different heart rates. Journal of Experimental Biology 207, 195-201.
- Altimiras, J., Claireaux, G., Sandblom, E., Farrell, A. P., McKenzie, D. J. and Axelsson, M. (2008). Gastrointestinal blood flow and postprandial metabolism in swimming sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*). *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology* 81, 663-672.
- Andersson, J., Degel, H., Horsted, S. J. and Nielsen, T. G. (1984). Kystnaere fiskearters biologi. Kobenhavn: Universitets Kobenhavn.
- Ando, M., Mukuda, T. and Kozaka, T. (2003). Water metabolism in the eel acclimated to sea water: from mouth to intestine. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology B-Biochemistry & Molecular Biology* 136, 621-633.
- Aviv, R., Policker, S., Brody, F., Bitton, O., Haddad, W., Kliger, A., Sanmiguel, C. P. and Soffer, E.
  E. (2008). Circadian patterns of gastric electrical and mechanical activity in dogs. *Neurogastroenterology and Motility* 20, 63-68.
- Axelsson, M. and Fritsche, R. (1991). Effects of exercise, hypoxia and feeding on the gastrointestinal blood flow in the Atlantic Cod (*Gadus morhua*). Journal of Experimental Biology 158, 181-198.
- Axelsson, M., Driedzic, W. R., Farrell, A. P. and Nilsson, S. (1989). Regulation of cardiac output and gut blood flow in the Sea Raven (*Hemitripterus-americanus*). Fish Physiology and Biochemistry 6, 315-326.
- Axelsson, M., Fritsche, R., Holmgren, S., Grove, D. J. and Nilsson, S. (1991). Gut blood flow in the estuarine crocodile (*Crocodylus porosus*). Acta Physiologica Scandinavica 142, 509-516.
- Axelsson, M., Thorarensen, H., Nilsson, S. and Farrell, A. P. (2000). Gastrointestinal blood flow in the red Irish lord (*Hemilepidotus hemilepidotus*): long-term effects of feeding and adrenergic control. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B-Biochemical Systemic and Environmental Physiology* 170, 145-152.
- Axelsson, M., Altimiras, J. and Claireaux, G. (2002). Post-prandial blood flow to the gastrointestinal tract is not compromised during hypoxia in the sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*). Journal of Experimental Biology 205, 2891-2896.
- Bakke, A. M., Glover, C. and Krogdahl, Å. (2011). Feeding, digestion and absorption of nutrients. In *The multifunctional gut of fish*, (eds. M. Grosell A. P. Farrell and C. J. Brauner), pp. 57-110. London, UK: Academic Press.
- Bath, R. N. and Eddy, F. B. (1979a). Salt and water balance in rainbow trout (Salmo gairdneri) rapidly transferred from freshwater to seawater. Journal of Experimental Biology 83, 193-202.
- Bath, R. N. and Eddy, F. B. (1979b). Ionic and repiratory regulation in rainbow trout during rapid transfer to seawater. *Journal of Comparative Physiology* 134, 351-357.
- Bayliss, W. M. and Starling, E. H. (1899). The movements and innervation of the small intestine. Journal of Physiology 24, 99-143.
- Beamish, F. W. H. (1974). Apparent specific dynamic action of Largemouth bass (Micropterus salmoides). Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 31, 1763-1769.
- Behrens, J. W., Axelsson, M., Neuenfeldt, S. and Seth, H. (2012). Effects of hypoxic exposure during feeding on SDA and postprandial cardiovascular physiology in the Atlantic cod, *Gadus morhua*. *Plos One* 7, e46227.
- Bercik, P., Bouley, L., Dutoit, P., Blum, A. L. and Kucera, P. (2000). Quantitative analysis of intestinal motor patterns: Spatiotemporal organization of nonneural pacemaker sites in the rat ileum. *Gastroenterology* 119, 386-394.
- Bernstein, K., Vink, J. Y., Fu, X. W., Wakita, H., Danielsson, J., Wapner, R. and Gallos, G. (2014). Calcium-activated chloride channels anoctamin 1 and 2 promote murine uterine smooth muscle contractility. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 211.
- Blaikie, H. B. and Kerr, S. R. (1996). Effect of activity level on apparent heat increment in Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 53, 2093-2099.

Blankenship, J. E. (1976). Tetrodotoxin - from poison to powerful tool. Perspectives in Biology and Medicine 19, 509-526.

- Boeuf, G. and Payan, P. (2001). How should salinity influence fish growth? Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology C-Toxicology & Pharmacology 130, 411-423.
- Bomgren, P., Einarsson, S. and Jönsson, A.-C. (1998). Similarities and differences in oxynticopeptic cell ultrastructure of one marine teleost (*Gadus morhua*) and one freshwater teleost (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*), during basal and histamine-stimulated phases of acid secretion. *Fish Physiology and Biochemistry* 18, 285-296.
- Bone, Q. and Moore, R. H. (2008). Biology of fishes. New York: Taylor & Francis Group.
- Boyce, S. J. and Clarke, A. (1997). Effect of body size and ration on specific dynamic action in the Antarctic plunderfish (*Harpagifer antarcticus*, Nybelin 1947). *Physiological Zoology* 70, 679-690.
- Brierley, S. M., Nichols, K., Grasby, D. J. and Waterman, S. A. (2001). Neural mechanisms underlying migrating motor complex formation in mouse isolated colon. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 132, 507-517.
- Brijs, J. (2013). Feeding ecology of Shorthorn and Arctic Sculpin at Qeqertarsuaq, Greenland. In *Course report: ForBio Marine Field Course Greenland*, pp. 60-64. Bergen: ForBio Research School in Biosystematics.
- Brijs, J., Sandblom, E., Dekens, E., Näslund, J., Ekström, A. and Axelsson, M. (2016a). Cardiac remodelling and increased central venous pressure underlie elevated stroke volume and cardiac output of seawater-acclimated rainbow trout. *American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*. ajpregu-00374
- Brijs, J., Sandblom, E., Sundh, H., Gräns, A., Hinchcliffe, J., Ekström, A., Sundell, K., Olsson, C., Axelsson, M. and Pichaud, N. (2016b). Increased mitochondrial coupling and anaerobic metabolism minimizes aerobic costs of trout in the sea. Currently in review in *Scientific Reports*.
- Brix, O. (2002). The physiology of living in water. In *Handbook of fish biology and fisheries* (eds. P. J. B. Hart and J. D. Reynolds), pp. 71-96. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Science Ltd.
- Brown, C. R. and Cameron, J. N. (1991a). The induction of specific dynamic action in channel catfish by infusion of essential amino acids. *Physiological Zoology* 64, 276-297.
- Brown, C. R. and Cameron, J. N. (1991b). The relationship between specific dynamic action (SDA) and protein synthesis rates in the channel catfish. *Physiological Zoology* **64**, 298-309.
- Bucking, C. and Wood, C. M. (2008). The alkaline tide and ammonia excretion after voluntary feeding in freshwater rainbow trout. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 211, 2533-2541.
- Bucking, C., Fitzpatrick, J. L., Nadella, S. R. and Wood, C. M. (2009). Post-prandial metabolic alkalosis in the seawater-acclimated trout: the alkaline tide comes in. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 212, 2159-2166.
- Buddington, R. K., Krogdahl, A. and BakkeMcKellep, A. M. (1997). The intestines of carnivorous fish: structure and functions and the relations with diet. *Acta Physiologica Scandinavica* 161, 67-80.
- Bueno, L. and Ruckebusch, M. (1976). Insulin and jejunal electrical activity in dogs and sheep. American Journal of Physiology 230, 1538-44.
- Bueno, L., Ferre, J. P. and Ruckebusch, Y. (1978). Effects of anesthesia and surgical procedures on intestinal myoelectric activity in rats. *American Journal of Digestive Diseases* 23, 690-695.
- Burakoff, R. and Percy, W. H. (1992). Studies in vivo and in vitro on effects of PGE2 on colonic motility in rabbits. *American Journal of Physiology - Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology* 262, G23-G29.
- Burnstock, G. (1958a). Reversible inactivation of nervous activity in a fish gut. Journal of Physiology-London 141, 35-45.
- Burnstock, G. (1958b). The effect of drugs on spontaneous motility and on response to stimulation of the extrinsic nerves of the gut of a teleostean fish. *British Journal of Pharmacology and Chemotherapy* 13, 216-226.
- Butler, P. J., Turner, D. L., Alwassia, A. and Bevan, R. M. (1988). Regional distribution of blood flow during swimming in the Tufted Duck (*Aythya fuligula*). *Journal of Experimental Biology* 135, 461-472.
- Cain, K. and Swan, C. (2011). Barrier function and immunology. In *The multifunctional gut of fish*, (eds. M. Grosell A. P. Farrell and C. J. Brauner), pp. 112-135. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Cajal, S. R. (1911). Histologie du systeme nerveux de l'homme et des vertebres. Paris: Maloine.
- Cannon, W. B. (1902). The movements of the intestines studied by means of the Rontgen Rays. *Journal of Medical Research* 7, 72-5.
- Chakraborty, S. C., Ross, L. G. and Ross, B. (1992). Specific dynamic action and feeding metabolism in common carp, *Cyprinus carpio* L. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology* 103A, 809-815.

- Chabot, D., Koenker, R. and Farrell, A. P. (2016). The measurement of specific dynamic action in fishes. *Journal of Fish Biology* 88, 152-172.
- Chang, E. B. and Leung, P. S. (2014). Gastrointestinal motility. In *The gastrointestinal system: Gastrointestinal, nutritional and hepatobiliary physiology*, (eds. Leung, P. S.), pp. 35-59. New York: Springer.
- Chen, J. H., Zhang, Q., Yu, Y., Li, K., Liao, H., Jiang, L., Hong, L., Du, X., Hu, X., Chen, S. et al. (2013). Neurogenic and myogenic properties of pan-colonic motor patterns and their spatiotemporal organization in rats. *Plos One* 8, e60474.
- Chou, C. C. (1982). Relationship between intestinal blood flow and motility. Annual Review of Physiology 44, 29-42.
- Clark, T. D., Sandblom, E., Cox, G. K., Hinch, S. G. and Farrell, A. P. (2008). Circulatory limits to oxygen supply during an acute temperature increase in the Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*). American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology 295, R1631-R1639.
- Clark, T. D., Sandblom, E. and Jutfelt, F. (2013). Aerobic scope measurements of fishes in an era of climate change: respirometry, relevance and recommendations. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 216, 2771-2782.
- Cooper, C. A. and Wilson, R. W. (2008). Post-prandial alkaline tide in freshwater rainbow trout: effects of meal anticipation on recovery from acid-base and ion regulatory disturbances. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 211, 2542-2550.
- Cooper, C. A., Whittamore, J. M. and Wilson, R. W. (2010). Ca<sup>2+</sup>-driven intestinal HCO<sub>3</sub> secretion and CaCO<sub>3</sub> precipitation in the European flounder in vivo: influences on acid-base regulation and blood gas transport. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology* 298, R870-R876.
- Cooper, C. A., Regan, M. D., Brauner, C. J., De Bastos, E. S. R. and Wilson, R. W. (2014). Osmoregulatory bicarbonate secretion exploits H+-sensitive haemoglobins to autoregulate intestinal O<sub>2</sub> delivery in euryhaline teleosts. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B-Biochemical Systemic and Environmental Physiology* 184, 865-876.
- Crocker, C. E., Farrell, A. P., Gamperi, A. K. and Cech, J. J. (2000). Cardiorespiratory responses of white sturgeon to environmental hypercapnia. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology* 279, R617-R628.
- D'Antona, G., Hennig, G. W., Costa, M., Humphreys, C. M. and Brookes, S. J. H. (2001). Analysis of motor patterns in the isolated guinea-pig large intestine by spatio-temporal maps. *Neurogastroenterology and Motility* 13, 483-492.
- Dick, T., Chambers, C. and Gallagher, C. P. (2009). Parasites, diet and stable isotopes of Shorthorn sculpin (*Myoxocephalus scorpius*) from Frobisher Bay, Canada. *Parasite-Journal De La Societe Francaise De Parasitologie* 16, 297-304.
- Dinning, P. G., Costa, M., Brookes, S. J. and Spencer, N. J. (2012). Neurogenic and myogenic motor patterns of rabbit proximal, mid, and distal colon. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal* and Liver Physiology 303, G83-G92.
- Driedzic, W. R. and Gesser, H. (1994). Energy metabolism and contractility in ectothermic vertebrate hearts - hypoxia, acidosis, and low temperature. *Physiological Reviews* 74, 221-258.
- Dupont-Prinet, A., Claireaux, G. and McKenzie, D. J. (2009). Effects of feeding and hypoxia on cardiac performance and gastrointestinal blood flow during critical speed swimming in the sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology a-Molecular & Integrative Physiology 154, 233-240.
- Eddy, F. B. (1982). Osmotic and ionic regulation in captive fish with particular reference to salmonids. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology B-Biochemistry & Molecular Biology 73, 125-141.
- Ekström, A., Jutfelt, F. and Sandblom, E. (2014). Effects of autonomic blockade on acute thermal tolerance and cardioventilatory performance in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Journal of Thermal Biology 44, 47-54.
- Eliason, E. J., Higgs, D. A. and Farrell, A. P. (2008). Postprandial gastrointestinal blood flow, oxygen consumption and heart rate in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology a-Molecular & Integrative Physiology 149, 380-388.
- Ern, R., Huong, D. T. T., Cong, N. V., Bayley, M. and Wang, T. (2014). Effect of salinity on oxygen consumption in fishes: a review. *Journal of Fish Biology* 84, 1210-1220.
- Evans, D. H. (1984). The roles of gill permeability and transport mechanisms in euryhalinity. Fish Physiology 10, 239-283.

- Evans, D. H. (2008). Teleost fish osmoregulation: what have we learned since August Krogh, Homer Smith, and Ancel Keys. *American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology* 295, R704-R713.
- Farmer, G. J. and Beamish, F. W. H. (1969). Oxygen consumption of *Tilapia nilotica* in relation to swimming speed and salinity. *Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada* 26, 2807-2811.
- Farrell, A. P. (1991). From hagfish to tuna a perspective on cardiac function in fish. *Physiological Zoology* 64, 1137-1164.
- Farrell, A. P. and Jones, D. (1992). The heart. In *Fish Physiology*, (eds. W. S. Hoar D. J. Randall and A. P. Farrell). Florida, U.S.A: CRC Press LLC.
- Farrell, A. P., Johansen, J. A. and Graham, M. S. (1988). The role of the pericardium in cardiac performance of the trout (Salmo gairdneri). Physiological Zoology 61, 213-221.
- Farrell, A. P., Thorarensen, H., Axelsson, M., Crocker, C. E., Gamperl, A. K. and Cech, J. J. (2001). Gut blood flow in fish during exercise and severe hypercapnia. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology a-Molecular and Integrative Physiology* 128, 551-563.
- Ferens, D. M., Chang, E. C., Bogeski, G., Shafton, A. D., Kitchener, P. D. and Furness, J. B. (2005). Motor patterns and propulsion in the rat intestine in vivo recorded by spatio-temporal maps. *Neurogastroenterology and Motility* 17, 714-720.
- Ferre, J. P. and Ruckebusch, Y. (1985). Myoelectrical activity and propulsion in the large intestine of fed and fasted rats. *Journal of Physiology-London* 362, 93-106.
- Fioramonti, J. and Bueno, L. (1984). Relation between intestinal motility and mesenteric blood flow in the conscious dog. *American Journal of Physiology* 246, G108-G113.
- Fitzgibbon, Q. P., Seymour, R. S., Ellis, D. and Buchanan, J. (2007). The energetic consequences of specific dynamic action in southern bluefin tuna (*Thunnus maccoyii*). Journal of Experimental Biology 210, 290-298.
- Fox, J. E., Daniel, E. E., Jury, J., Fox, A. E. and Collins, S. M. (1983). Sites and mechanisms of action of neuropeptides on canine gastric motility differ in vivo and in vitro. *Life Sciences* 33, 817-25.
- Fu, S. J. and Xie, X. J. (2004). Nutritional homeostasis in carnivorous southern catfish (*Silurus meridionalis*): is there a mechanism for increased energy expenditure during carbohydrate overfeeding? *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology* 139A, 359-363.
- Fu, S. J., Zeng, L. Q., Li, X. M., Pang, X., Cao, Z. D., Peng, J. L. and Wang, Y. X. (2009). The behavioural, digestive and metabolic characteristics of fishes with different foraging strategies. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 212, 2296-2302.
- Fuentes, J., Bury, N. R., Carroll, S. and Eddy, F. B. (1996). Drinking in Atlantic salmon presmolts (Salmo salar L) and juvenile rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss Walbaum) in response to cortisol and sea water challenge. Aquaculture 141, 129-137.
- Fujimiya, M. and Inui, A. (2000). Peptidergic regulation of gastrointestinal motility in rodents. *Peptides* 21, 1565-1582.
- Fänge, R., Lundblad, G., Lind, J. and Slettengren, K. (1979). Chitinolytic enzymes in the digestive system of marine fishes. *Marine Biology* 53, 317-321.
- Gabella, G. and Blundell, D. (1981). Gap junctions of the muscles of the small and large intestine. Cell and Tissue Research 219, 469-488.
- Gallaugher, P. E., Thorarensen, H., Kiessling, A. and Farrell, A. P. (2001). Effects of high intensity exercise training on cardiovascular function, oxygen uptake, internal oxygen transport and osmotic balance in chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) during critical speed swimming. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 204, 2861-2872.
- Gallavan, R. H., Chou, C. C., Kvietys, P. R. and Sit, S. P. (1980). Regional flood flow during digestion in the conscious dog. *American Journal of Physiology* 238, H220-H225.
- Galligan, J. J., Costa, M. and Furness, J. B. (1985). Gastrointestinal myoelectric activity in conscious guinea pigs. American Journal of Physiology 249, G92-G99.
- Gamperl, A. K., Swafford, B. L. and Rodnick, K. J. (2011). Elevated temperature, per se, does not limit the ability of rainbow trout to increase stroke volume. *Journal of Thermal Biology* 36, 7-14.
- Genz, J., Taylor, J. R. and Grosell, M. (2008). Effects of salinity on intestinal bicarbonate secretion and compensatory regulation of acid-base balance in *Opsanus beta*. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 211, 2327-2335.
- Genz, J., Esbaugh, A. J. and Grosell, M. (2011). Intestinal transport following transfer to increased salinity in an anadromous fish (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology a-Molecular & Integrative Physiology 159, 150-158.
- Gill, A. C. and Mooi, R. D. (2002). Phylogeny and systematics of fishes. In Handbook of fish biology and fisheries, (eds. P. J. B. Hart and J. D. Reynolds), pp. 15-42. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Science Ltd.

- Grivel, M. L. and Ruckebusch, Y. (1972). The propagation of segmental contractions along the small intestine. *Journal of Physiology* 227, 611-25.
- Grosell, M. (2006). Intestinal anion exchange in marine fish osmoregulation. Journal of Experimental Biology 209, 2813-2827.
- Grosell, M. (2011). The role of the gastrointestinal tract in salt and water balance. In *The multifunctional gut of fish*, (eds. M. Grosell A. P. Farrell and C. J. Brauner), pp. 135-164. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Grove, D. J. and Holmgren, S. (1992a). Intrinsic mechanisms controlling cardiac stomach volume of the rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) following gastric distension. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 163, 33-48.
- Grove, D. J. and Holmgren, S. (1992b). Mechanisms controlling stomach volume of the Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) following gastric distension. *Journal of Experimental Biology* **163**, 49-63.
- Gräns, A. (2012). The effects of temperature on gut blood flow and gut motility in fish. *PhD thesis*, University of Gothenburg, Gothenburg, Sweden.
- Gräns, A. and Olsson, C. (2011). Gut Motility. In *Encyclopedia of Fish Physiology: From Genome to Environment*, (ed. A. P. Farrell), pp. 1292-1300. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Gräns, A., Axelsson, M., Olsson, C., Hojesjo, J., Pitsillides, K. and Cech, J. (2007). Effects of exercise, feeding, hypoxia and hypercapnia on cardiac output and gut blood flow in white sturgeon (*Acipenser transmontanus*) using a fully implantable biotelemetry system. *Comparative Biochemistry* and Physiology a-Molecular & Integrative Physiology 146, S182-S183.
- Gräns, A., Albertsson, F., Axelsson, M. and Olsson, C. (2009a). Postprandial changes in enteric electrical activity and gut blood flow in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) acclimated to different temperatures. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 212, 2550-2557.
- Gräns, A., Axelsson, M., Pitsillides, K., Olsson, C., Hojesjo, J., Kaufman, R. and Cech, J. J. (2009b). A fully implantable multi-channel biotelemetry system for measurement of blood flow and temperature: a first evaluation in the green sturgeon. *Hydrobiologia* 619, 11-25.
- Gräns, A., Olsson, C., Pitsillides, K., Nelson, H. E., Cech, J. J. and Axelsson, M. (2010). Effects of feeding on thermoregulatory behaviours and gut blood flow in white sturgeon (*Acipenser transmontanus*) using biotelemetry in combination with standard techniques. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 213, 3198-3206.
- Gräns, A., Seth, H., Axelsson, M., Sandblom, E., Albertsson, F., Wiklander, K. and Olsson, C. (2013). Effects of acute temperature changes on gut physiology in two species of sculpin from the west coast of Greenland. *Polar Biology* 36, 775-785.
- Gutowska, M. A., Drazen, J. C. and Robison, B. H. (2004). Digestive chitinolytic activity in marine fishes of Monterey Bay, California. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology a-Molecular & Integrative Physiology* 139, 351-358.
- Hennig, G. W., Costa, M., Chen, B. N. and Brookes, S. J. H. (1999). Quantitative analysis of peristalsis in the guinea-pig small intestine using spatio-temporal maps. *Journal of Physiology-London* 517, 575-590.
- Hennig, G. W., Gregory, S., Brookes, S. J. H. and Costa, M. (2010). Non-peristaltic patterns of motor activity in the guinea-pig proximal colon. *Neurogastroenterology and Motility* 22, e207-e217.
- Hirano, T. (1974). Some factors regulating water-intake by eel, Anguilla japonica. Journal of Experimental Biology 61, 737-747.
- Hirano, T. and Mayer-Gostan, N. (1976). Eel esophagus as an osmoregulatory organ. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 73, 1348-1350.
- Holmberg, A., Schwerte, T., Fritsche, R., Pelster, B. and Holmgren, S. (2003). Ontogeny of intestinal motility in correlation to neuronal development in zebrafish embryos and larvae. *Journal of Fish Biology* 63, 318-331.
- Holmberg, A., Schwerte, T., Pelster, B. and Holmgren, S. (2004). Ontogeny of the gut motility control system in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) embryos and larvae. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 207, 4085-4094.
- Holmberg, A., Olsson, C. and Holmgren, S. (2006). The effects of endogenous and exogenous nitric oxide on gut motility in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) embryos and larvae. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 209, 2472-2479.
- Holmberg, A., Olsson, C. and Hennig, G. W. (2007). TTX-sensitive and TTX-insensitive control of spontaneous gut motility in the developing zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) larvae. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 210, 1084-1091.

- Holmgren, S., Axelsson, M. and Farrell, A. P. (1992). The effect of catecholamines, substance-P and vasoactive intestinal polypeptide on blood flow to the gut in the Dogfish (*Squalus acanthias*). *Journal* of Experimental Biology 168, 161-175.
- Horowitz, B., Ward, S. M. and Sanders, K. M. (1999). Cellular and molecular basis for electrical rhythmicity in gastrointestinal muscles. *Annual Review of Physiology* 61, 19-43.
- Houston, A. M. (1959). Osmoregulatory adaptation of steelhead trout (Salmo gairdneri Richardson) to seawater. Canadian Journal of Zoology 37, 729-748.
- Huang, F., Zhang, H. K., Wu, M., Yang, H. H., Kudo, M., Peters, C. J., Woodruff, P. G., Solberg, O. D., Donne, M. L., Huang, X. Z. et al. (2012). Calcium-activated chloride channel TMEM16A modulates mucin secretion and airway smooth muscle contraction. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 109, 16354-16359.
- Huizinga, J. D. and Lammers, W. J. (2009). Gut peristalsis is governed by a multitude of cooperating mechanisms. American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology 296, G1-G8.
- Huizinga, J. D., Martz, S., Gil, V., Wang, X. Y., Jimenez, M. and Parsons, S. (2011). Two independent networks of interstitial cells of cajal work cooperatively with the enteric nervous system to create colonic motor patterns. *Frontiers of Neuroscience* 5, 93.
- Husebye, E. (1999). The patterns of small bowel motility: physiology and implications in organic disease and functional disorders. *Neurogastroenterology and Motility* 11, 141-161.
- Husebye, E. and Engedal, K. (1992). The patterns of motility are maintained in the human small intestine throughout the process of aging. *Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology* 27, 397-404.
- Hwang, S. J., Blair, P. J. A., Britton, F. C., O'Driscoll, K. E., Hennig, G., Bayguinov, Y. R., Rock, J. R., Harfe, B. D., Sanders, K. M. and Ward, S. M. (2009). Expression of anoctamin 1/TMEM16A by interstitial cells of Cajal is fundamental for slow wave activity in gastrointestinal muscles. *Journal of Physiology-London* 587, 4887-4904.
- Hwang, S. J., Basma, N., Sanders, K. M. and Ward, S. M. (2016). Effects of new-generation inhibitors of the calcium-activated chloride channel anoctamin 1 on slow waves in the gastrointestinal tract. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 173, 1339-1349.
- Jensen, J. and Holmgren, S. (1985). Neurotransmitters in the intestine of the Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology C-Pharmacology Toxicology & Endocrinology 82, 81-89.
- Jobling, M. and Davies, P. S. (1980). Effects of feeding on metabolic rate, and the specific dynamic plaice, *Pleuronectes platessa. Journal of Fish Biology* 14, 539-546.
- Jordan, A. D. and Steffensen, J. F. (2005). Specific dynamic action in *Gadus morhua* under normoxia and moderate strong hypoxia. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology a-Molecular & Integrative Physiology* 141, S213-S213.
- Kamunde, C. N., Pyle, G. G., McDonald, D. G. and Wood, C. M. (2003). Influence of dietary sodium on waterborne copper toxicity in rainbow trout, (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Environmental Toxicology* and Chemistry 22, 342-350.
- Karila, P. and Holmgren, S. (1995). Enteric reflexes and nitric oxide in the fish intestine. Journal of Experimental Biology 198, 2405-2411.
- Kirsch, R. and Meister, M. F. (1982). Progressive processing of ingested water in the gut of seawater teleosts. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 98, 67-81.
- Kirschner, L. B. (1993). The energetics of osmotic regulation in ureotelic and hypoosmotic Fishes. Journal of Experimental Zoology 267, 19-26.
- Kirschner, L. B. (1995). Energetics of osmoregulation in freshwater vertebrates. *Journal of Experimental Zoology* 271, 243-252.
- Kitazawa, T., Itoh, K., Yaosaka, N., Maruyama, K., Matsuda, K., Teraoka, H. and Kaiya, H. (2012). Ghrelin does not affect gastrointestinal contractility in rainbow trout and goldfish in vitro. *General and Comparative Endocrinology* **178**, 539-545.
- Kondo, J., Powell, A. E., Wang, Y., Musser, M. A., Southard-Smith, E. M., Franklin, J. L. and Coffey, R. J. (2015). LRIG1 regulates ontogeny of smooth muscle-derived subsets of interstitial cells of Cajal. *Gastroenterology* 149, 407-419.
- Krogdahl, Å., Sundby, A. and Bakke, A. M. (2011). Gut secretion and digestion. In *Encyclopedia of Fish Physiology: From Genome to Environment.*, (ed. A. P. Farrell), pp. 1301-1310. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Kunze, W. A. A. and Furness, J. B. (1999). The enteric nervous system and regulation of intestinal motility. *Annual Review of Physiology* 61, 117-142.
- Kuwamura, T. (1986). Parental care and mating systems of cichlid fishes in Lake Tanganyika a preliminary field survey. *Journal of Ethology* 4, 129-146.

- Kågström, J. and Holmgren, S. (1997). VIP-induced relaxation of small arteries of the rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss, involves prostaglandin synthesis but not nitric oxide. Journal of Autonomic Nervous System 63, 68-76.
- Kågström, J., Holmgren, S., Olson, K. R., Conlon, J. M. and Jensen, J. (1996). Vasoconstrictive effects of native tachykinins in the rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss. Peptides* 17, 39-45.
- Larsen, E. H., Willumsen, N. J., Mobjerg, N. and Sorensen, J. N. (2009). The lateral intercellular space as osmotic coupling in isotonic transport. *Acta Physiologica* 195, 171-186.
- Legrow, S. M. and Beamish, F. W. H. (1986). Influence of dietary protein and lipid on apparent heat increment of rainbow trout, *Salmo gairderi*. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 43, 19-25.
- Lee, J. S. (1983). Effects of stretching and stirring on water and glucose absorption by canine mucosal membrane. *The Journal of Physiology* 335, 335-341.
- Lucas, M. C. and Priede, I. G. (1992). Utilization of metabolic scope in relation to feeding and activity by individual and grouped zebrafish (*Brachydanio rerio*, Hamilton-Buchanan). Journal of Fish Biology 41, 175-190.
- Madsen, S. S. and Naamansen, E. T. (1989). Plasma ionic regulation and gill Na+/K+-Atpase changes during rapid transfer to seawater of yearling rainbow trout, (*Salmo gairdneri*) - time course and seasonal variation. *Journal of Fish Biology* 34, 829-840.
- Madsen, S. S., Jensen, M. K., Nohr, J. and Kristiansen, K. (1995). Expression of Na+-K+-ATPase in the brown trout (*Salmo trutta*): In vivo modulation by hormones and seawater. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology* 269, R1339-R1345.
- Manjakasy, J. M., Day, R. D., Kemp, A. and Tibbetts, I. R. (2009). Functional morphology of digestion in the stomachless, piscivorous Needlefishes (*Tylosurus gavialoides* and *Strongylura leiura ferox*, Teleostei: Beloniformes). *Journal of Morphology* 270, 1155-1165.
- Marshall, W. S. and Grosell, M. (2005). Ion transport, osmoregulation and acid-base balance. In *Physiology of Fishes*, (eds. D. Evans and J. B. Claiborne), pp. 177-230: CRC Press.
- Maxime, V., Pennec, J. P. and Peyraud, C. (1991). Effects of direct transfer from fresh-water to seawater on respiratory and circulatory variables and acid-base status in rainbow-trout. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B-Biochemical Systemic and Environmental Physiology* 161, 557-568.
- McCormick, S. D. (2001). Endocrine control of osmoregulation in teleost fish. American Zoologist 41, 781-794.
- McCormick, S. D. and Saunders, R. L. (1987). Preparatory physiological adaptations for marine life of salmonids: Osmoregulation, growth and metabolism. *American Fisheries Society Symposium* 1, 211-229.
- McCue, M. D. (2006). Specific dynamic action: A century of investigation. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology a-Molecular & Integrative Physiology 144, 381-394.
- McGaw, I. J. (2006). Feeding and digestion in low salinity in an osmoconforming crab, *Cancer gracilis* II. Gastric evacuation and motility. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 209, 3777-3785.
- Meehl, G. A. and Tebaldi, C. (2004). More intense, more frequent, and longer lasting heat waves in the 21st century. *Science* 305, 994-997.
- Melville, J., Macagno, E. and Christensen, J. (1975). Longitudinal contractions in the duodenum: their fluid-mechanical function. American Journal of Physiology -- Legacy Content 228, 1887-1892.
- Morgan, J. D. and Iwama, G. K. (1999). Energy cost of NaCl transport in isolated gills of cutthroat trout. American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology 277, R631-R639.
- Morrison, C. M. and Wright, J. R. (1999). A study of the histology of the digestive tract of the Nile tilapia. *Journal of Fish Biology* 54, 597-606.
- Nelson, J. A. and Dehn, A. M. (2011). The GI tract in air breathing. In *The multifunctional gut of fish*, (eds. M. Grosell A. P. Farrell and C. J. Brauner), pp. 395-434. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Nelson, J. S. (2006). Fishes of the world. Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Nguyen, H. N., Silny, J., Wuller, S., Marschall, H. U., Rau, G. and Matern, S. (1995). Chyme transport patterns in human duodenum, determined by multiple intraluminal impedancometry. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology* 268, G700-G708.
- Nieuwenhuijs, V. B., Verheem, A., van Duijvenbode-Beumer, H., Visser, M. R., Verhoef, J., Gooszen, H. G. and Akkermans, M. A. (1998). The role of interdigestive small bowel motility in the regulation of gut microflora, bacterial overgrowth, and bacterial translocation in rats. *Annals of* Surgery 228, 188-193.
- Nilsson, S. (1986). Control of gill blood flow. In Fish Physiology: Recent Advances, (eds. S. Nilsson and S. Holmgren), pp. 87-101. London: Cromm Helm.

- Norris, J. S., Norris, D. O. and Windell, J. T. (1973). Effect of simulated meal size on gastric acid and pepsin secretory rates in Bluegill (*Lepomis macrochirus*). Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 30, 201-204.
- Olli, J. J., Hjelmeland, K. and Krogdahl, A. (1994). Soybean trypsin inhibitors in diets for Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*, L) - effects on nutrient digestibilities and trypsin in pyloric ceca homogenate and intestinal content. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology a-Physiology* 109, 923-928.
- Olson, K. R. (1992). Blood and extracellular fluid volume regulation: Role of the renin-angiotensin system, kallikrein-kinin system, and atrial natriuretic peptides. In *Fish Physiology: The cardiovascular system*, (eds. W. S. Hoar D. J. Randall and A. P. Farrell), pp. 135-254. San Diego, California: Academic Press, Inc.
- Olson, K. R. and Hoagland, T. M. (2008). Effects of freshwater and saltwater adaptation and dietary salt on fluid compartments, blood pressure, and venous capacitance in trout. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology* 294, R1061-R1067.
- **Olsson, C.** (2011a). Gut anatomy and morphology. In *Encyclopedia of Fish Physiology: From Genome to Environment.*, (ed. A. P. Farrell), pp. 1268-1275. San Diego: Academic Press.
- **Olsson, C.** (2011b). The enteric nervous system. In *The multifunctional gut of fish*, (eds. M. Grosell A. P. Farrell and C. J. Brauner), pp. 320-349. San Diego: Academic Press.
- **Olsson, C. and Holmgren, S.** (2001). The control of gut motility. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology a-Molecular and Integrative Physiology* **128**, 481-503.
- Olsson, C., Aldman, G., Larsson, A. and Holmgren, S. (1999). Cholecystokinin affects gastric emptying and stomach motility in the rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Journal of Experimental Biology* 202, 161-170.
- Parmelee, J. T. and Renfro, J. L. (1983). Esophageal desalination of seawater in flounder role of active sodium transport. *American Journal of Physiology* 245, R888-R893.
- Patrick, M. L., Part, P., Marshall, W. S. and Wood, C. M. (1997). Characterization of ion and acidbase transport in the fresh water adapted mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*). Journal of Experimental Zoology 279, 208-219.
- Peck, M. A., Buckley, L. J. and Bengtsson, D. A. (2003). Energy losses due to routine and feeding metabolism in young-of-the-year juvenile Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 60, 927-937.
- Pedersen, P. B. M., Hansen, K., Houng, D. T. T., Bayley, M. and Wang, T. (2014). Effects of salinity on osmoregulation, growth and survival in Asian swamp eel (*Monopterus albus*, Zuiew 1793). *Aquaculture Research* 45, 427-438.
- Peres, A., Infante, J. L. Z. and Cahu, C. (1998). Dietary regulation of activities and mRNA levels of trypsin and amylase in sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) larvae. *Fish Physiology and Biochemistry* 19, 145-152.
- Perkins, W. E. (1971). Method for studying electrical and mechanical activity of isolated intestine. Journal of Applied Physiology 30, 768-&.
- Perrott, M. N., Grierson, C. E., Hazon, N. and Balment, R. J. (1992). Drinking behavior in seawater and freshwater teleosts, the role of the renin-angiotensin system. *Fish Physiology and Biochemistry* 10, 161-168.
- Perry, S. F., Shahsavarani, A., Georgalis, T., Bayaa, M., Furimsky, M. and Thomas, S. L. Y. (2003). Channels, pumps, and exchangers in the gill and kidney of freshwater fishes: Their role in ionic and acid-base regulation. *Journal of Experimental Zoology Part a-Comparative Experimental Biology* 300A, 53-62.
- Rao, G. M. M. (1968). Oxygen consumption of rainbow trout (Salmo gairdneri) in relation to activity and salinity. Canadian Journal of Zoology 46, 781-785.
- Rich, A., Leddon, S. A., Hess, S. L., Gibbons, S. J., Miller, S., Xu, X. and Farrugai, G. (2007). Kitlike immunoreactivity in the zebrafish gastrointestinal tract reveals putative ICC. *Developmental Dynamics* 236, 903-911.
- Rodriguez Membrilla, A., Martinez, V., Jimenez, M., Gonalons, E. and Vergara, P. (1995). Is nitric oxide the final mediator regulating the migrating myoelectric complex cycle. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology* 268, G207-G214.
- Roe, J. H., Hopkins, W. A., Snodgrass, J. W. and Congdon, J. D. (2004). The influence of circadian rhythms on pre- and post-prandial metabolism in the snake *Lamprophis fuliginosus*. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology a-Molecular & Integrative Physiology* 139, 159-168.
- Ross, G. (1971). Escape of mesenteric vessels from adrenergic and nonadrenergic vasoconstriction. *American Journal of Physiology* 221, 1217-1223.

- Rönnestad, I., Rojas-Garcia, C. R. and Skadal, J. (2000). Retrograde peristalsis; a possible mechanism for filling the pyloric caeca? *Journal of Fish Biology* 56, 216-218.
- Ruckenbusch, Y. and Bueno, L. (1976). The effect of feeding on the motility of the stomach and small intestine in the pig. *British Journal of Nutrition* 35, 397-405.
- Rugiero, F., Mistry, M., Sage, D., Black, J. A., Waxman, S. G., Crest, M., Clerc, N., Delmas, P. and Gola, M. (2003). Selective expression of a persistent tetrodotoxin-resistant Na(+) current and Na(V)1.9 subunit in myenteric sensory neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience* 23, 2715-2725.
- Sandblom, E. and Axelsson, A. (2005). Baroreflex mediated control of heart rate and vascular capacitance in trout. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 208, 821-829.
- Sandblom, E. and Axelsson, M. (2006). Adrenergic control of venous capacitance during moderate hypoxia in the rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*): role of neural and circulating catecholamines. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology* 291, R711-R718.
- Sandblom, E. and Axelsson, M. (2007a). The venous circulation: A piscine perspective. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology a-Molecular & Integrative Physiology 148, 785-801.
- Sandblom, E. and Axelsson, M. (2007b). Venous hemodynamic responses to acute temperature increase in the rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology 292, R2292-R2298.
- Sandblom, E., Davison, W. and Axelsson, M. (2012). Cold physiology: postprandial blood flow dynamics and metabolism in the Antarctic fish *Pagothenia borchgrevinki*. *Plos One* 7, e33487.
- Sanders, K. M., Koh, S. D. and Ward, S. M. (2006). Interstitial cells of Cajal as pacemakers in the gastrointestinal tract. *Annual Review of Physiology* 68, 307-343.
- Sanders, K. M., Koh, S. D., Ro, S. and Ward, S. M. (2012). Regulation of gastrointestinal motility insights from smooth muscle biology. *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology* 9, 633-645.
- Scott, W. B. and Scott, M. G. (1988). Atlantic Fishes of Canada. Bulletin of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada, 219.
- Secor, S. M. (2009). Specific dynamic action: a review of the postprandial metabolic response. Journal of Comparative Physiology B-Biochemical Systemic and Environmental Physiology 179, 1-56.
- Seidelin, M., Madsen, S. S., Blenstrup, H. and Tipsmark, C. K. (2000). Time-course changes in the expression of Na+,K+-ATPase in gills and pyloric caeca of brown trout (*Salmo trutta*) during acclimation to seawater. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology* 73, 446-453.
- Seth, H. and Axelsson, M. (2009). Effects of gastric distension and feeding on cardiovascular variables in the shorthorn sculpin (*Myoxocephalus scorpius*). American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology 296, R171-R177.
- Seth, H., Gräns, A. and Axelsson, M. (2010). Cholecystokinin (CCK) as a regulator of cardiac function and postprandial gastrointestinal blood flow in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology 298, 1240-1248.
- Seth, H., Axelsson, M. and Farrell, A. P. (2011). The circulation and metabolism of the gastrointestinal tract. In *The multifunctional gut of fish*, (eds. M. Grosell A. P. Farrell and C. J. Brauner), pp. 351-393. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Shehadeh, Z. H. and Gordon, M. S. (1969). Role of intestine in salinity adaptation of rainbow trout (Salmo Gairdneri). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 30, 397-403.
- Shiklomanov, I. (1993). World fresh water resources. In Water in crisis: A guide to the world's fresh water resources, (ed. P. H. Gleick), pp. 13-24. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Sibbing, F. A. (1982). Pharyngeal mastication and food transport in the carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.) a cineradiographic and electro-myographic study. *Journal of Morphology* **172**, 223-258.
- Skadhauge, E. (1969). The mechanism of salt and water absorption in the intestine of the eel (Anguilla anguilla) adapted to waters of various salinities. Journal of Physiology 204, 135-158.
- Skadhauge, E. (1974). Coupling of transmural flows of NaCl and water in intestine of eel (Anguilla anguilla). Journal of Experimental Biology 60, 535-546.
- Smith, H. W. (1930). The absorption and excretion of water and salts by marine teleosts. *The American Journal of Physiology* 93, 480-505.
- Spencer, N. J., Walsh, M. and Smith, T. K. (2000). Purinergic and cholinergic neuro-neuronal transmission underlying reflexes activated by mucosal stimulation in the isolated guinea-pig ileum. *Journal of Physiology-London* 522, 321-331.
- Stankovic, D., Crivelli, A. J. and Snoj, A. (2015). Rainbow trout in Europe: introduction, naturalization, and impacts. *Reviews in Fisheries Science & Aquaculture* 23, 39-71.
- Szurszewski, J. H. (1969). A migrating electric complex of canine small intestine. American Journal of Physiology 217, 1757-63.

- Takei, Y. and Tsuchida, T. (2000). Role of the renin-angiotensin system in drinking of seawater-adapted eels (Anguilla japonica): a reevaluation. American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology 279, R1105-R1111.
- Takei, Y. and Loretz, C. A. (2011). The gastrointestinal tract as an endocrine/neuroendocrine/paracrine organ: Organization, chemical messengers and physiological targets. In *The multifunctional gut of fish*, (eds. M. Grosell A. P. Farrell and C. J. Brauner), pp. 262-319. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Takei, Y., Tsuchida, T. and Tanakadate, A. (1998). Evaluation of water intake in seawater adaptation in eels using a synchronized drop counter and pulse injector system. *Zoological Science* 15, 677-682.
- Taylor, J. R., Cooper, C. A. and Mommsen, T. P. (2011). Implications of GI function for gas exchange, acid-base balance and nitrogen metabolism. In *The multifunctional gut of fish*, (eds. M. Grosell A. P. Farrell and C. J. Brauner), pp. 214-261. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Tezuka, K., Mori, M., Suzuki, T. and Kanamine, T. (2008). Ultrasonic pulse-Doppler flow meter application for hydraulic power plants. *Flow Measurement and Instrumentation* 19, 155-162.
- Thorarensen, H. and Farrell, A. P. (2006). Postprandial intestinal blood flow, metabolic rates, and exercise in Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*). *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology* 79, 688-694.
- Thorarensen, H., Gallaugher, P. E., Kiessling, A. K. and Farrell, A. P. (1993). Intestinal blood-flow in swimming Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) and the effects of hematocrit on blood-flow distribution. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 179, 115-129.
- Tipsmark, C. K. and Madsen, S. S. (2001). Rapid modulation of Na+/K+-ATPase activity in osmoregulatory tissues of a salmonid fish. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 204, 701-709.
- Tomasso, J. R. and Grosell, M. (2005). Physiological basis for large differences in resistance to nitrite among freshwater and freshwater-acclimated euryhaline fishes. *Environmental Science & Technology* 39, 98-102.
- Tonini, M., Costa, M., Brookes, S. J. H. and Humphreys, C. M. S. (1996). Dissociation of the ascending excitatory reflex from peristalsis in the guinea-pig small intestine. *Neuroscience* 73, 287-297.
- Vantrappen, G., Janssens, J., Hellemans, J. and Ghoos, Y. (1977). Interdigestive motor complex of normal dubjects and patients with bacterial overgrowth of small intestine. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 59, 1158-1166.
- Vatner, S. F., Patrick, T. A., Higgins, C. B. and Franklin, D. (1974). Regional circulatory adjustments to eating and digestion in conscious unrestrained primates. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 36, 524-529.
- Wang, T., Zaar, M., Arvedsen, S., Vedel-Smith, C. and Overgaard, J. (2002). Effects of temperature on the metabolic response to feeding in *Python molurus*. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology a-Molecular and Integrative Physiology 133, 519-527.
- Ward, S. M. and Sanders, K. M. (2001). Physiology and pathophysiology of the interstitial cell of Cajal:from bench to bedside. I. Functional development and plasticity of interstitial cells of Cajal. *American Journal of Physiology - Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology* 281, G602-G611.
- Waterman, S. A., Tonini, M. and Costa, M. (1994). The role of ascending excitatory and descending inhibitory pathways in peristalsis in the the isolated guinea-pig small intestine. *Journal of Physiology-London* 481, 223-232.
- Webb, R. C. (2003). Smooth muscle contraction and relaxation. Advances in Physiology Education 27, 201-206.
- Whittamore, J. M. (2012). Osmoregulation and epithelial water transport: lessons from the intestine of a marine teleost fish. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B* 182, 1-39.
- Whittamore, J. M., Cooper, C. A. and Wilson, R. W. (2010). HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> secretion and CaCO<sub>3</sub> precipitation play major roles in intestinal water absorption in marine teleost fish in vivo. *American Journal of Physiology* 298, 877-886.
- Wilson, J. M. and Castro, L. F. C. (2011). Morphological diversity of the gastrointestinal tract. In *The multifunctional gut of fish*, (eds. M. Grosell A. P. Farrell and C. J. Brauner), pp. 2-55. London, UK: Academic Press.
- Wilson, R. W. and Grosell, M. (2003). Intestinal bicarbonate secretion in marine teleost fish source of bicarbonate, pH sensitivity, and consequences for whole animal acid-base and calcium homeostasis. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Biomembranes* 1618, 163-174.
- Wilson, R. W., Wilson, J. M. and Grosell, M. (2002). Intestinal bicarbonate secretion by marine teleost fish - why and how? *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Biomembranes* 1566, 182-193.
- Wilson, R. W., Millero, F. J., Taylor, J. R., Walsh, P. J., Christensen, V., Jennings, S. and Grosell, M. (2009). Contribution of fish to the marine inorganic carbon cycle. *Science* 323, 359-362.

- Wingate, D. L. (1981). Backwards and forwards with the migrating complex. Digestive Diseases Sciences 26, 641-66.
- Wood, C. M. and Bucking, C. (2011). The role of feeding in salt and water balance. In *The multifunctional gut of fish*, (eds. M. Grosell A. P. Farrell and C. J. Brauner), pp. 165-212. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Wu, T., Sun, L. C., Du, C. H., Cai, Q. F., Zhang, Q. B., Su, W. J. and Cao, M. J. (2009). Identification of pepsinogens and pepsins from the stomach of European eel (*Anguilla anguilla*). Food Chemistry 115, 137-142.
- Yin, J. and Chen, J. D. Z. (2008). Roles of interstitial cells of Cajal in regulating gastrointestinal motility: in vitro versus in vivo studies. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine* 12, 1118-1129.
- Yin, J., Levanon, D. and Chen, J. D. Z. (2004). Inhibitory effects of stress on postprandial gastric myoelectrical activity and vagal tone in healthy subjects. *Neurogastroenterology and Motility* 16, 737-744.
- Zheng, J., Ariga, H., Taniguchi, H., Ludwig, K. and Takahashi, T. (2009). Ghrelin regulates gastric phase III-like contractions in freely moving conscious mice. *Neurogastroenterology & Motility* 21, 78-84.
- Zhu, M. H., Kim, T. W., Ro, S., Yan, W., Ward, S. M., Koh, S. D. and Sanders, K. M. (2009). A Ca2+-activated Cl- conductance in interstitial cells of Cajal linked to slow wave currents and pacemaker activity. *Journal of Physiology-London* 587, 4905-4918.